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Thursday, February 26, 2015

--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m.
MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting in EB-2014-0116, an application brought by Toronto Hydro for custom rates. 

     Mr. Smith, are there any preliminary matters we need to deal with before we move to panel 4?  

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much. 


So you will have seen last night that we did circulate the information that Mr. Keizer had indicated that we would be circulating, and just drawing to the Board's attention that we sought in the cover letter confidential treatment in relation to that information, in substance for the same reason as articulated by the Board in its ruling.  I believe it was yesterday morning. 

     This information is still -- although we have confidence in it -- obviously we wouldn't be putting it out if we didn't, but it's still -- the audit is not finalized and the information is thus preliminary from that perspective. 


So I wanted to alert the Panel to that request, and obviously the parties, to the extent they had any questions in relation to it.  

     The other thing that I wanted to draw the Board's attention to is, to those who have looked at the information, you will see that there is a variance explanation at the bottom of the page that relates primarily to some areas that fall under Mr. Lyberogiannis's area of responsibility, at least to speak to from an evidentiary perspective, and thus, although he had come and gone, we thought it was more productive to have him available in the event there were questions. 

     So we have seated him on this panel, although he is not indicated in your plan as being on this panel.  We thought that was the right thing to do. 

     MS. LONG:  That's fine.


Before we begin with panel number 4, I have taken a look at the estimates for today for panel 4, and Mr. Smith, will you have panel 5 available this afternoon?

     MR. SMITH:  We will. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, excuse me.  Is the Board making a ruling on the request for confidentiality?  Because you didn't ask for submissions.  I am just wondering whether you're making -- my friend has made a request for confidential treatment.  

     MS. LONG:  We did that yesterday.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  On this information?  Because we just saw this last night. 

     MS. LONG:  Is this new information?  

     MR. SMITH:  No, but you will have received -- the submissions were in relation to the OPEX portion of the KPI, and that's company-wide.  This is OM&A, which is the large subset of OPEX, so it is subsumed in the information and -- sorry, you made a decision in relation to CAPEX in the KPIs on the basis that that information was subject to audit being finalized.  This is the OM&A equivalent of that, and it is still subject to being finalized.

So that is the basis of the request.  Same basis.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I only got it last night, so I haven't had a chance to look at it.  But I guess the other question is:  Are we expected to cross-examine on this evidence today?

MS. LONG:  I believe that is the expectation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I can't cross-examine on that today.  I got it last night.  It's not reasonable to ask me to cross-examine on it the same day that you get it. 

     There is a normal 24-hour rule.  I don't believe it was adhered to here.  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, this is -- the only thing that's being conveyed here is an update of the bridge year forecast to actual. 

     If my friend intended to cross-examine on the bridge year, he would be cross-examining on it.  This is just our information as it became available.  We thought it was important to the Board to make it available, rather than wait until the audit was finalized after the hearing. 

     This is when we got the information, and we're making it available.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I've stated my concern, Madam Chair.  I mean, obviously I can't be expected to cross-examine on it today.  If there are material differences I can't do anything about it.  I can't talk about them today. 

     MS. LONG:  We are going to take a look at the information on the break.


Mr. Janigan, are you prepared to proceed with panel 4?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  So would you like to introduce the panel, Mr. Smith? 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, I would.  Thank you very much.  

     Members of the panel, you have with you today from -- closest to me, Lauren Kirk, manager of customer care.  To her right you have -- I hope I get this right -- Elias Lyberogiannis, manager, long-term strategy and planning, who you have seen before.  To his left you have Asheef Jamal, controller, finance.  And then at the far end of the panel you have Shirley Powell, director, human resource systems, planning and rewards.  

     And I would ask, with the exception of Mr. Lyberogiannis, that they be affirmed.  


TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. - PANEL 4

     Shirley Powell, Affirmed

Asheef Jamal, Affirmed

Lauren Kirk, Affirmed


Elias Lyberogiannis, Previously Affirmed
     EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. SMITH:  

     MR. SMITH:  So just very briefly, members of the panel, by way of explanation, Ms. Kirk, you are the manager of customer care? 

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  And can you tell us, in that role, what your responsibilities are?  

     MS. KIRK:  I'm responsible for the customer relationship area within customer care, which takes in the contact centre, customer research, direct-to-customer communication, including all online and digital communication, quality and training.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


Mr. Jamal, I have the same question for you as the controller of finance.  Your area of responsibility?  

     MR. JAMAL:  My area of responsibility includes the financial planning process and the financial results of the utility.  

     MR. SMITH:  And Ms. Powell, the same question for you.  Your responsibilities as director?  

     MS. POWELL:  My areas of...  My area....


MR. SMITH:  Two buttons, one mic.  One mic, two buttons. 

     MS. POWELL:  My areas of responsibility are compensation, benefits and HR systems.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.


And I will ask each of you -- or perhaps, Mr. Jamal, you could do it on behalf of the panel, but for the purpose of giving evidence to the Ontario Energy Board today, do you adopt the prefiled evidence, interrogatory responses, technical conference answers and undertakings provided by you in the areas set out on the hearing plan?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.


Mr. Janigan, can you proceed with your cross-examination, please.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN:  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     I wonder if you could turn up -- oh, first of all, I have a compendium that has been placed before the panel.  I wonder if I could have that marked as an exhibit, please.  

     MS. HELT:  Yes.  That will be Exhibit K7.1. 

EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  

     And panel, I wonder if you could turn to pages 3 and 4 of that compendium.  It deals with an interrogatory that was asked by CCC associated as to why OM&A per customer had risen from $238.60 in 2011 to the projected $269.50.  

     And I have included the response on page 4, and I am having some difficulty in understanding exactly what this means.  It seems to say that the increase in OM&A per customer is due to the increase in OM&A.  Does that summarize the first part of the answer?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  The increase in number of customers per -- for OM&A per customer is due to the increase in OM&A. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     MR. JAMAL:  But the -- there is a number of OM&A costs that are not necessarily
directly related -- related to customers.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     MR. JAMAL:  So for example, in 2015 we have included $3.6 million worth of OM&A related to street lighting which are fully funded in revenue offsets. 

     So those would drive the numerator or OM&A portion of that ratio up, and that cost is not directly related to customers. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Another example is that there are costs that are incurred to invest in the distribution system -- for example, corrective maintenance -- that are not necessarily directly related to customers as well.  

So they would cause some of that variance.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Have you separated that out somewhere in the materials, in the evidence?  Do you know?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That information is included throughout the evidence, the OM&A evidence, but not specifically.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Would it be much work to separate those two out?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It is -- there's a lot of interrelationships between OM&A.  So there is not necessarily a direct list of OM&A that pertains directly to customers.  

So I think it would be a challenging exercise. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  It might not tell me a lot as well, I take it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, the second part of this answer also puzzles us, that you've -- I don't know how you arrived at the 0.3 percent that's quoted here, in terms of the decline when adjusted for restructuring costs. 

     Can you explain that to me?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So in 2012, the utility incurred $27.7 million worth of restructuring costs, and that's a real cost to the organization. 

     Those were expenditures, OM&A expenditures that were 

incurred. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  And what were those costs?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Those costs -- so those costs related to the amounts paid for employees that voluntarily or involuntarily left the organization.  So there was approximately 200. 

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, 200 employees that accepted the voluntary exit program.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess I'm -- I don't understand why those would necessarily be segregated in terms of costs from the ordinary formula of OM&A per customer.  

Can you enlighten me why the restructuring -- it seems to be directly related to OM&A, all of the buyouts. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Once again, those costs are not directly related to the number of customers. 

     They were a non-recurring -- it's a non-recurring activity that is unusual, and they're not necessarily directly related to customers.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And is that, the cost that you have described, which are amounts paid for voluntarily leaving the organization, is that the totality of the restructuring costs that you have described here?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Mr. Lyberogiannis, while I have you here -- and unfortunately, I am in the same position as Mr. Shepherd.  I haven't had a chance to review the material.

But have you produced in the update a detailed budget for the Rexdale facility that was promised in an interrogatory earlier on?  

     MR. SMITH:  The answer is that is not included in the material.  I believe that was -- it was an undertaking from Mr. Nash, and I don't believe we filed that yet.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Will it be filed before the conclusion of the evidence?  

     MR. SMITH:  I can check at the break.  I think at the end of the day, but I will have to check at the break. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, I wonder if you could turn to pages 5 to 12 in my compendium.  

The Board has issued a proposal to amend the Distribution System Code, which would mandate that all utilities change to monthly billing by the end of 2016.  

And in its comments on this issue, Toronto Hydro has noted that there be both one-time and ongoing incremental costs associated with the change, and the one-time cost could be as high as 8.3 million and the annual incremental -- and the annual incremental cost of 6.1 million. 

     Have I got that correct?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, would Toronto Hydro consider that the mandated movement to monthly billing would be a Z factor under this application?  

     MR. SMITH:  Toronto Hydro has proposed -- I believe it is a deferral account in respect of these costs, and Mr. Seal will be in a position to speak to the regulatory treatment associated with that.  He is on panel 5.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.  

     In its submission to the Board on the proposed DSC amendment, Toronto Hydro questioned whether there would be 

significant savings to the ratepayers.  

     Are there any savings that would be made to working capital or other aspects of the utility operations with the change?  

     MS. KIRK:  That is discussed in our response, in our 

submitted response on page 4, anticipated benefits, working 

capital allowance reductions.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Can you summarize that for me?  

     MS. KIRK:  We've put it at approximately $1.9 million.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that once again is -- can you give me the reference for that once again?  Page 4?  

     MS. KIRK:  Page 4, and then it continues on page 5. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, so the record is clear, I don't think the witness is referring to page 4 of the compendium. 

     MS. KIRK:  No, I'm sorry.  Page 4 of our submission -- 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     MS. KIRK:  -- which is in the interrogatory response, 4A CCC 34, appendix A.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     Now, Toronto Hydro has undertaken a number of customer surveys.  For example, there is a response to an interrogatory from SEC in appendix H which has the UtilityPULSE survey in it. 

     Can you tell me if Toronto Hydro has surveyed, et cetera, customers as to their preference for monthly or bi-monthly billing?  

     MS. KIRK:  Not specifically, no.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Have there been any questions asked on that subject?  

     MS. KIRK:  No.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up pages 13 and 14 of my compendium.  

And in response to an interrogatory, 35, from the Consumers Council of Canada, Toronto Hydro shows that there has been a -- almost 30 percent increase, 29.5 percent increase in the category of billing remittance and meter data management segment shown on page 14.  

     What is the explanation for that increase?  

     MS. KIRK:  Just to be clear, are you -- the percentage 

increase that you are quoting, is that from 2011 to 2015?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  No.  I believe that's from 2000 and -- yes, I believe that would be the case.  

     MS. KIRK:  So there's a number of factors that would play into that increase, some dealing with restructuring costs, some dealing with meter data management costs.  And in 2014 we had decided to use internal field resources for key work in that area.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  What do you mean by that?  

     MS. KIRK:  Actually, I apologize, that is in our collection segment.  That is not in meter -- billing remittance and meter data management. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the restructuring costs, are they similar to the restructuring costs that you've described earlier, concerning the voluntary leaves?  

     MS. KIRK:  Partly, yes.  So in 2012 we outsourced a number of clerical tasks within our customer care organization.  Some of the internal resources were moved from another segment to manage the work in that segment.  So costs in another area went down.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Does that summarize the changes?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to have you turn to pages 15 to 20 of my compendium.

I understand that Toronto Hydro hired Towers to undertake a study of its compensation; is that correct?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, that is correct.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  In essence, if I could summarize the results, it shows that Toronto Hydro was the median of its peer group.  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, we have some question with respect to whether or not this is adequate in terms of a compensation study, when the peer group is largely other regulated utilities.  

     Our question about this is:  Isn't there a certain amount of circularity in putting Toronto Hydro in with other peer groups when you are trying to look at compensation, with other utilities when you are trying to look at compensation?  

     MS. POWELL:  We actually -- if you look at the two comparator groups, we look at the energy sector as a whole. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Mm-hmm. 

     MS. POWELL:  But we also refer to general industry as well.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  How did that general industry segment figure into the result?  Was it one data set that was used in coming to the conclusion that Toronto Hydro was the median?  Or was it a check on the data?  

     MS. POWELL:  We referred to both cuts, data cuts.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  What does that show?  When you look at the comparison to the other industries' compensation, where does that place THESL -- Toronto Hydro?  

     MS. POWELL:  Are you referring to the general industry?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct. 

     MS. POWELL:  Okay.  The conclusions that Towers Perrin drew were that we were mid-market, with the exception of a few areas.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to ask you to turn to my compendium reference, pages 21 and 22.  And I am just backing up from the previous question.

The conclusion on that with respect to the comparison of wage salary to the non-utilities, that's contained within the report itself, is it?  Or is that additional information?  You know, when you indicated that Toronto Hydro was comparable to this general...

     MS. POWELL:  Are you referring to whether the conclusions were -- 

     MR. JANIGAN:  The conclusion with respect to that particular group.  

     MS. POWELL:  Let me see.  It is within the survey, under "Observations" on page 9 of the Towers Perrin survey.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  

     Back to pages 21 and 22 -- 

     MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Janigan --


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry.


MS. SPOEL:  -- before you move on to another area, I just have a question, if I might, at this point about the material on page 19 of your compendium. 

     I am looking at the heading.  It says "Named general industry peer group", and then it says:

"Organizations within the Towers Watson 2013 general industry MMPS survey were chosen based upon the following criteria."

And the first bullet says "located within the GTA." 

     But I see under the list that you've got Bruce Power, city of Medicine Hat, Hydro Quebec and a number of others who, to my knowledge, aren't -- or my understanding, I should say -- aren't located within the GTA. 

     So I am just puzzled as to what those criteria mean.  

     MS. POWELL:  The criteria is "and/or," so it is not necessarily that they fulfil -- 

     MS. SPOEL:  Oh, it is "or," because it says "and" after the second bullet.  It says -- "located in the GTA" is the first bullet, "organizations of comparable size; and a headcount". 

     So I took those to mean they were -- all those criteria were supposed to be met.  If that is not the case, maybe you can clarify that.  

     MR. SMITH:  We can confirm that it is -- we will confirm that it is disjunctive, as opposed to conjunctive. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Janigan. 

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, would you like us to just give an undertaking in relation to that so we can keep track of it? 

     MS. SPOEL:  Yes, please. 

     MS. HELT:  All right, then.  That will be Undertaking J7.1. 

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE CRITERIA FOR GENERAL INDUSTRY PEER GROUP IN THE TOWERS WATSON STUDY ARE DISJUNCTIVE, AS OPPOSED TO CONJUNCTIVE. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  With respect to pages 21 and 22, is Toronto Hydro indicating, with these numbers on page 21, that the larger OM&A budgets are related to the larger capital budget?  In other words, when we increase the capital program, there is a direct relationship with OM&A?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No, Mr. Janigan.  There is an interrogatory -- that would be 2B OEB Staff 34 -- that speaks to, generally, how capital expenditures would impact O&M expenditures. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Can you summarize what the impact is for me?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Certainly.  For a large subset of our O&M expenditures, there would be no impact at all.  They would be independent of capital expenditures. 

     For another subset -- for example, when the assets that are being installed numbers are increasing, then corresponding O&M expenditures would increase.  For example, if we needed to do additional inspections because of increases to asset counts, and in some cases there would be decreases to expenditures. 

     And again, I can speak to specific areas of O&M related to our assets and our plant and service.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Have you done a quantitative analysis of those two phenomena, number one, in the areas that are not affected, and number two, the areas that will be increased, and how much they're increased by way of expenditures on capital? 

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In going through each of the O&M programs, when we plan our separate programs, the planners and the managers that would be responsible for those programs would, on an individual basis, analyze any impacts that a capital expenditure would have on their corresponding O&M. 

     So at the low level within each of the programs, we would be doing that analysis.  But generically, at a high level, there isn't a specific analysis I can point to.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Would that be a helpful figure, looking at the relationship between capital and O&M?  

Or is it the case where the capital projects are so dissimilar that trying to extrapolate a generic O&M number would not be helpful?  

     MR. RICHMOND:  Are you speaking at the high level, or at the program-by-program level?

     MR. JANIGAN:  What I'm saying is at the high level, would that number be such that it can be -- could be applied in a general way to all capital?  Or whether or not there is -- the individual projects attract such differing levels of O&M expenditures that it is likely to be of no use?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I would be quite cautious about sort of staying at the very, very high level.  I think it would be -- it would be useful to go at the low level and sort of go program by program and determine whether there are, in fact, direct dependencies in place. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that number, once again at a higher level, Toronto Hydro has never calculated that?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Not that I'm aware of.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  

     MR. JAMAL:  If I may add?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Sure. 

     MR. JAMAL:  There is no direct, necessarily, correlation between the entire OM&A and the entire capital program, as Mr. Lyberogiannis suggested.  

Maybe there are at a program level, but even doing that mathematical analysis, I would say that wouldn't 

be helpful, that there is no direct relationship there at a meta, macro level. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But any time there is an increase in the capital program, generally some aspect of OM&A will show some effect of that capital program?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I would go back to that interrogatory response that I referred to. 

     So there would be some impact.  Whether the impact is 

neutral, whether the impact is negative or positive, that would depend on the specific characteristics of the program.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you for that.

I wonder if you could turn up in my compendium pages 23 to 27.  

     In response to 4A Society 4, Toronto Hydro shows a table that shows that contract staff have increased since 2011 from 37.6 to an estimated 77 in 2015. 

     At the same time, there has been considerable reductions in the number of unionized positions.  

     I would like to confirm what you are showing on pages 26 and 27 are the savings from this change; for example, the benefit savings or how $1,811,414 in benefit savings, or $23,524.86, relates to the FTEs that are shown on the table.  

     Is it simply that there's 77 FTEs multiplied by $23,524?  

     MS. POWELL:  Those savings do represent the fact that those contract resources are not receiving the benefits, yes.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  And that amount is derived simply by a simple multiplication of 77 FTEs times the benefits of $23,524?  

     MS. POWELL:  That would be my understanding, yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Since you had about 38 contract 

category employees in 2011, would I be, then, correct to say that your 2015 OM&A would be higher -- I'm sorry, your 2015 OM&A would be lower by 77, minus 38, times the $23,000, the $917,436, subject to check?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. POWELL:  Would you mind rephrasing your question again?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Well, if you had 38 contract category 

employees in 2011 and in 2015 you had 77, I would assume that your 2015 OM&A would be lower by the difference between 77 and 38, times the benefit reductions of $23,524, which amounts to something like $917,000.  

     MS. POWELL:  I mean, the avoided costs for the benefits for having contract employees -- having an increase in the number of contract employees just means that you are not -- you have avoided those benefit costs for those individuals. 

     I don't think that it is necessarily a direct savings of benefit dollars to our OM&A.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Those new employees, when you went from 38 to 77, they didn't replace unionized employees and positions?  

     MS. POWELL:  No, they did not. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  They were all new adds that were based -- that were to carry out new functions within the organization?  

     MS. POWELL:  That's correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  

     MS. POWELL:  Well, not necessarily new, but to support 

projects, ongoing projects.  And new, yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Their duties were ones that were identified as necessary on a going-forward basis?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up pages 28 and 29 of my compendium.

     In response to SIA 32, you show the average total salary and wages for the management and non-management and union categories.

And as I calculate those increases from 2011 compared to the 2015 test year, they show for management 186,024,000 to 212,297,000, an increase of 14.1 percent.  Non-management, an increase of 103,818,000 to 109,002,000, an increase of 5 percent, and union labour at 96,965,000, increasing to 102,156,000, an increase of 5.4 percent.  

     So management at 14.1 percent, non-management at 5 percent, and union labour at 5.4 percent.  

     Can you explain to me why management increases are so much higher?  

     MS. POWELL:  Were you referring to -- I was trying to follow along with the line that you were referring to, the averages you were referring to.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I was looking at the total amounts of compensation that were paid in each category.  

     MS. POWELL:  Okay.  

     MS. SPOEL:  I'm sorry, Mr. Janigan, I'm trying to follow as well, and I can't find the numbers.  You referred to 186 million for management?  I don't see a number of 186 million --

     MR. JANIGAN:  Over on the average total -- I'm sorry, this is a -- I referred to the -- I misspoke.  This refers to the average, rather than to the totals.  It goes from 186,000, if you look down on page 29, down about three, going from 186,024 to 212,297.  Non-management, 103,815 to 109,002.  And 96,965 to 102,156 for union.

I apologize for that.  I...

     MS. LONG:  Ms. Powell, are you following where Mr. Janigan is?  

     MS. POWELL:  I have found the averages, yes. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  And that looks to me -- my first question is -- it looks to me that's an increase for management of 14.1 percent, an increase for non-management of 5 percent, and an increase of union labour of 5.4 percent.  

     Is that a correct extrapolation from that column -- or row?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Why are the increases for management so much higher?  

     MS. POWELL:  If you look at the total compensation, it is actually going down overall for those groups.  The averages for the management, we have had an increase in the 

non-management, non-union to support increased capital projects that we've got within the company.  We've got increased reporting requirements, analysis that is required to support the capital as well.  

     So the number of FTEs for the non -- for the management side has gone up with regards to that.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Why would that change the figure for the average increase?  

     MS. POWELL:  Well, we've had a decrease, actually.  If you look at Society... 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Is what you're saying you have had a decrease in the total amount that was paid to management, even though the individual people in management have increased by 14 percent?  Is that what you're saying?  

     MS. POWELL:  If I'm looking at the non-management, non-union, the average from the 2011 period to the 2014 period, the increases aren't actually all that significant.  If I look at -- sorry, I am referring to Society interrogatory -- well, it's under OEB appendix 2K.  

     So if I may draw your attention to the averages at the 

bottom there, the second line, "Non-management, non-union," the increases in the averages are actually not that significant if you're looking from 142 to 153.  

     MS. LONG:  I think the question, Ms. Powell, is with respect to the top line, "Management including executive."

Is that your question, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, it is.  

     MS. POWELL:  Okay.  So that average has gone up by 7 percent.  However, if you look at the total compensation for that category as well, it has decreased by 19 percent.  So it is really driven by the number of FTEs. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  You have less managers?  

     MS. POWELL:  Exactly.  So we have decreased the number of executives but their portfolios have expanded, hence the averages have gone up. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  So they're being compensated for greater duties that they have taken on?  

     MS. POWELL:  Exactly. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Would we anticipate -- unless this number diminishes over the next few years, can we anticipate that the increases for management and non-management and union would be likely congruent?  

     MS. POWELL:  For the -- in our staffing plan, we do anticipate on hiring 320 within our core trades area.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  

     MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Ms. Powell, can I correct the record here?  Originally I thought you had said that the increase from 2011 actuals to 2015 test was 14 percent, and then I think that you just said it was 7 percent.  

     So can you tell us what the correct number is, percentage-wise? 

     MS. POWELL:  I am referring to the table that is on the screen.  And between 2011 to test year 2015, that is an increase of 7 percent, the "Management including executive" category.  

     MS. LONG:  Perhaps I'm misunderstanding what you're saying. 

     MR. SMITH:  I am not sure that anybody's math is right or wrong.  I just think for the benefit of the record it may be advantageous for Ms. Powell to identify when she is giving her answers which line she is looking at --


MS. LONG:  I think that would be helpful. 

     MR. SMITH:  -- because it will be difficult to follow later.  

     MS. POWELL:  I am referring to the OEB appendix 2K, employee cost compensation table.  And I am referring to the averages that are at the bottom of that table under "Management including executive."

So that increase from 2011 to 2015 test year is 7 percent.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  That's the overall increase in that category, right?  

     MS. POWELL:  Correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  By amount?  

     MS. POWELL:  Correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  The individual managers, which was the average total salary/wages, the average went from 186,024 to 212,297, which was the 14 percent that we were referring to earlier?


MS. POWELL:  Right.  So that is not including -- I am looking at the line that has "Salary, wages and benefits." 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And they -- during that period of time, we went from a management of 61.8 FTEs to 55 FTEs; is that correct?

     MS. POWELL:  Correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  And that loss of the six and a half FTEs meant that the managers that were remaining obtained an increase of about 14 percent across the board -- not across the board, but in --

     MS. POWELL:  On average. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  On average, that's correct.  Have I got that correct?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Powell, I still don't see where you get 7 percent from, because if you take the bottom line, including the total compensation –- "Salary, wages and benefits" -- going from 245,866 to 277,507 is about 13 to 14 percent.  It is definitely not 7 percent.  

So I don't know where your 7 percent number is coming from.  Maybe you can clarify that.  

     MS. POWELL:  Sorry, you are correct.  That is right.  

     MS. SPOEL:  So it is approximately 14 percent, somewhere in the range of 13 to 14 in round numbers? 

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, you are correct.

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in your projected OM&A, are there amounts that are set out for meeting objectives or performance goals?  

     MS. POWELL:  Are there specific amounts?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes. 

     MS. POWELL:  We have performance targets.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And are they associated with hard 

metrics from the performance of the utility itself?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Can you tell me, in general terms, what is looked to in rewarding?  

     MS. POWELL:  The performance program is based on a number of key performance indicators that are tracked on our corporate scorecard.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions for this panel.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan. 

     Ms. Hobbs, do I understand that you are going next?  

     MS. HOBBS:  Yes.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HOBBS:  

     MS. HOBBS:  Good morning.  My first question was a question that we asked on the first day of hearing, asked of panel 1, and that is a question as to what Toronto Hydro's policy is with respect to a wait period, if 

any, for permitting retiring employees to work under externally -- contracts for external contractors.  

     Do you have a policy with respect to that?  

     MS. POWELL:  We have no policy with regards to any wait period.  

Whether or not employees retire from Toronto Hydro and work for a third-party contractor, we're not aware of what those third-party contractors have in place.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Isn't it fair to say that there would be 

certainly some cost implications with respect to maintaining senior qualified individuals, and the ability of those individuals to go out and work for a contractor?  

     MS. POWELL:  The cost to THESL?  

     MS. HOBBS:  Yes, that's right.  

     MS. POWELL:  If I understand your question correctly, you're asking whether or not there's additional costs to THESL for retired employees working for third-party contractors?  

     MS. HOBBS:  Well, my understanding is that those employees would be -- if you've retired from Toronto Hydro as a skilled tradesperson, you're receiving pension and retiree benefits from the utility at the same time as you are working full-time for an external contractor, a Toronto Hydro-approved contractor. 

     That would seem to be, to put it -- it would seem to be double-dipping on some level.  

     MS. POWELL:  There are no additional costs to Toronto Hydro.  


Once an employee retires from us, should they choose to work for a third-party contractor, we hire those contractors based on fair market pricing.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  With respect to -- again, this is an issue, a question related to externally-contracted services. 

     I want to ask you to look to the response to CUPE 

Interrogatory 4, and that is Undertaking J2.29, CUPE 18.  

     I am just -- the response here is that a rough estimate of the proposed cost avoidance of just-in-time hiring model in 2015 is 7.5 million.  

     And that is based on assumption that Toronto Hydro would hire staff to fulfil retirement vacancies in a four-year lead time training period.  

     So I'm wondering if you can tell me -- the indication there is that that is typically -- the four-year lead time, you say that is typically required for certified and skilled trades. 

     Is that four years accurate, with respect to all of the skilled trades?  

     MS. POWELL:  There is a range -- there is a range within our apprenticeship program between four to six years, varying by the certified trade.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So I guess I'm not clear, then. 

     So you have taken -- the numbers are based on the minimum required training period, and don't actually reflect those longer periods for some of the trades?  

Can you give us a breakdown as to which trades require a four-year period to become fully qualified, and which might require a longer period to become fully qualified, and identify the period required to become fully 

qualified for each trade?

     MS. POWELL:  I don't know off the top of my head.  I know that the CPCP, CPLP trades are just over four years, four and a half years. 

     I don't want to give you the wrong information.  I believe it is the DST group that have a lengthier training period.  

     MS. HOBBS:  So my understanding is that the DSTs take 78 months to become fully qualified, or six and a half years.  Does that sound right to you?  

     MS. POWELL:  That sounds right. 

     MS. HOBBS:  So I guess I am wondering how you came up with the model, the four-year model, the four-year lead time model.  


Is that something that you have seen, or you're borrowing from a relevant comparator utility, or --

     MS. POWELL:  We're trying to be as conservative as possible, keeping in mind costs.  

And we're also trying to ensure -- we're looking at our retirement projections as well, and taking a 

conservative approach, banking on the fact that retirees will still -- seasoned employees will still be within the utility to transfer that knowledge over that time frame, the training time frame. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  In coming up with that model, have you taken into account the productive work that is performed under the old model, under the current model, by junior apprentice trades staff?  

     MS. POWELL:  We have looked at that.  We don't believe that there is a productivity issue.  The apprentices work alongside seasoned journeymen, journeypersons, to be trained and qualified.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So if your -- you know, under the just-in-time model, if you are going to have fewer qualified tradespersons and fewer junior apprentice trades staff year to year, what's the plan for performing simpler work that under the old model would be performed by junior tradespersons or apprentice -- apprentice tradespersons?  

     MS. POWELL:  Apprentices are still performing all necessary work at all levels, but they are monitored and their work is reviewed by seasoned journey people.  

     MS. HOBBS:  If you have a smaller complement, though, overall of apprentices, wouldn't it necessarily be the case that some of the more senior qualified tradespersons are having to do that simpler work that would now be performed by apprentices under the current model?  

     MS. POWELL:  I am not as familiar with all of the work that needs to be carried out and how the work is categorized and who performs which tasks.  

     But it is my belief that all the necessary work that needs to be completed is audited and verified by more seasoned individuals.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Sorry, just a moment.  

     So under the just-in-time hiring model, just to -- is it fair to say that you are going to have a lower number of apprentices overall than you have currently?  

     MS. POWELL:  Not necessarily.  Our trade school, we can only absorb so many apprentices in a safe manner.  So we plan on continuing with the number of apprentices we have over -- in our hiring plan we're planning on hiring over 320 apprentices over this time frame, '15 to '19.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  And, I mean -- so I guess what I'm wondering is what impact does Toronto Hydro see the just-in-time hiring policy having on the overall composition of the trades with respect to the skill level of tradespersons and the ratio of skilled to unqualified tradespersons or apprentices?  

     MS. POWELL:  We have a rigorous training program that ensures the safe absorption of our apprentices within the utility.  So I don't believe that there is any concern that we have.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  My question is -- and I don't know that I got an answer to this earlier.  Maybe I didn't fully flesh it out.  But has the just-in-time hiring model been proven in the context of comparator utilities?  

     MS. POWELL:  It's not -- if your question is whether or not this is something that's been benchmarked, I don't believe it has.  It's an approach that we believe we can safely execute.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Okay.  So, I mean, with all due respect to assembly-line workers, they're not -- these tradespersons aren't building widgets.  And I guess I'm wondering if you've -- if you're confident that you have considered all of the implications for a just-in-time hiring model with respect to safety and efficiency and reliability when you haven't -- when there is no model of it having been implemented elsewhere. 

     MS. POWELL:  If I can turn your attention to the 

Interrogatory, 4A CUPE 5, and we look at the retirement projections within CUPE, while this is a risk-free approach, we do believe that with the number of seasoned journeypersons -- which total up to 314 over the 2014 period to 2019 period, and we're planning on hiring 320 over that same time frame -- we do believe that we have sufficient coverage for knowledge transfer.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Could you give us a sense of -- you indicated with respect to the question posed earlier by Mr. Powell (sic), and you have again referenced hiring 320 tradespersons -- 

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MS. HOBBS:  Can you break that down by trade?  

     MS. POWELL:  I believe that was an undertaking already.  We do have that. 

     MS. HOBBS:  Have you provided the numbers with respect to when Toronto Hydro intends to hire in the DST trade, with respect to the year?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  If you refer to Exhibit 4A, tab 4, schedule 3, table 8, you will see the detailed hiring plan by job category.  So there are 41 DSTs in our plan to hire between the 2014 and 2019 period.  

     MS. HOBBS:  So I guess what I'm wondering with respect to the replacement of retiring DSTs is:  Under the apprenticeship hiring plan, is the expectation of Toronto Hydro that there won't be any impact with respect to the number of fully qualified DSTs?  

     MS. POWELL:  We don't anticipate so, no.  

     MR. CAMILLERI:  Excuse me, Panel.  I just want to put on the record I've been at Toronto Hydro for 28 years.  We have never seen the rate of retirement and the rate of incoming apprentices as they are.  

     And if the ratio of 325 people leaving and 320 coming in, it's not -- the company is not doing their due diligence to make sure that it is properly staffed.  It's something that we see every day.  I know it may not be appropriate to say this, but the hiring has to be -- has to change when it comes to -- when it comes to this, because tradesmen are -- tradespeople are leaving at a very fast rate.  And there has to be a backfill.  

     MS. POWELL:  The approach that we have taken is to try and ensure that we are most -- we are trying to be fiscally prudent.  We're keeping our customers in mind to ensure that we have the staff on hand to deal with the issues with our aging infrastructure.

We feel this is the most prudent approach for us to take.  

     MR. SMITH:  There will be an argument period, at which time I expect CUPE may advance that as an argument and we will have to respond, but I think at this stage we should just take the questions in cross-examination. 

     MS. LONG:  Yes, Mr. Camilleri, we can't have you giving evidence, but I understand that you are raising the concern.  And perhaps your counsel wants to ask some questions in respect to that, and I do assume that it will be something that we will see in argument. 

     Ms. Hobbs, any further questions?  

     MS. HOBBS:  Sorry, if I can just get instructions?  

     MS. LONG:  Absolutely.  

     MS. HOBBS:  We don't have any other questions for now.  Thanks. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you very much.

Then I think we will take our morning break, and we will come back and start with you, Mr. Dumka.  We are going to take 20 minutes.  So we will be back at 11:10.  

     --- Recess taken at 10:47 a.m.



--- Upon resuming at 11:17 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

Mr. Dumka, before you begin, we would like to deal with the matter of Exhibit OH, tab 1, schedule 4, which was filed February 25, 2015, and which we spoke briefly about this morning.

And Mr. Shepherd, you had indicated that you had not had a chance to review it. Have you at this time had a chance to review it?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, Madam Chair.  I've been preparing cross, and not able to -- 

     MS. LONG:  Well, we would like -- to the extent any 

parties have submissions that they would like to make on this which are materially different to the arguments that we heard yesterday, given our ruling yesterday on the confidential nature of them, we would like to hear them after the lunch break.  

This is a one-page document, so hopefully, Mr. Shepherd, you will have an opportunity over lunch to take a look at it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have actually had a chance to look at yesterday's transcript.  I did not hear that part on the internet.  

But I have now looked at it, and I have no further submissions from those already presented. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then we are prepared to accept this on a confidential basis, and will do so.  

Mr. Dumka?

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just one minor housekeeping matter, if I might?

     The confidential exhibit you just mentioned is labelled "schedule 4"; that should be actually be schedule 5.

I think we now have two schedule 4s, so it should be schedule 5. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  We will make that correction.  

     Mr. Dumka, are prepared to proceed with your cross-examination of this panel?  

     MR. DUMKA:  Yes, I am.  Thanks. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you. 

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DUMKA:
MR. DUMKA:  Hello, panel.  I'm Bohdan Dumka and I'm looking after the interests of the Society of Energy Professionals. 

     I have a couple of questions that I wasn't originally going to touch on, and it has to do with some of the cross-examination earlier on. 

     A simple one.  The other day you provided a response to Undertaking J1.1.  This was the CUPE question which included the request for the safety metric for the external contractors.  

     I bring this up now because I understand, you know, this splashes across several areas.  So I'm wondering if we could get some additional information on this response. 

     I will read the last several lines in the response: 

"Several contractor firms employed by Toronto Hydro are certified in OHSAS..."

Whatever, and "recognized" this, that and the other thing. 

"More generally, the average Total Recordable Injury Frequency (TRIF) value for all external design and construction firms in 2014 was 2.35, which is equal to or better than past Toronto Hydro's own performance (2013 and earlier)."

     I was wondering if it would be possible to get the 2014 figure for Toronto Hydro.  And excuse me, but I am not sure if that is part of the confidential stuff that is bouncing around.  It is a safety metric, so I assume it is out there. 

     So I was wondering if we could get the 2014 Toronto Hydro metric, and if we could get the results for both Toronto Hydro and the external contractors for 2012 and 2013, so we can just see what the trending has been since you started with these external contracts, on the safety side.  

     MS. LONG:  So you are looking, Mr. Dumka, for the metric for the external design and construction firms, as it was calculated for 2014 in this undertaking, but you are looking for it in 2012 and 2013?  

     MR. DUMKA:  That's right.  

     MS. LONG:  As well as Toronto Hydro's own internal metric for 2014?  

     MR. DUMKA:  So we can see them side by side.  

     MR. SMITH:  Ms. Powell, do we have that information?  

     MS. POWELL:  We have the actual results now.  I would have to confer with my peers on the 2012 and 2013 figures for the external contractors.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  We will do that by way of undertaking, yes.  

     MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J7.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  TO PROVIDE THE 2014 TORONTO HYDRO SAFETY METRIC AND THE 2012 AND 2013 RESULTS FOR BOTH TORONTO HYDRO AND THE EXTERNAL CONTRACTORS.

     MR. DUMKA:  Now, I had another question on a discussion earlier this morning on the cost avoidance of the just-in-time hiring.  I'm wondering if we could just flip that up.  

I just have a couple of questions, because I don't understand the logic behind the calculation.  

      MS. POWELL:  Are you referring to a specific interrogatory?  

     MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  You had that discussion on the just-in-time hiring, and there was a cost avoidance figure of $7.5 million a year, I believe it was.  

     Oh, I've got it.  Thank you.  It's the technical conference Undertaking J2.29 CUPE 18.  

     MS. POWELL:  Are you asking for detailed -- 

     MR. DUMKA:  No, I'm not asking for details. I was just 

waiting for you to flip that up. 

     If I understood this correctly -- and I'm sure you will correct me if I'm wrong -- what you basically have done to arrive at the $7.5 million is you have estimated the number of apprentices that you would have hired, if you were doing your normal hiring rather than just-in-time hiring, and that is the cost for that labour, for those apprentices, $7.5 million.  

So that is your savings, your cost avoidance.  You haven't hired $7.5 million worth of apprentices; is that correct?  

     MS. POWELL:  That's correct. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  To step back, and we can flip up 

whichever undertakings from the technical conference -- it is actually J2.29 CUPE 15, if we just flip that up.

On the second page, there's a breakdown of all of the external contract work that is done for CAPEX. 

     And the first category there is "Design and construction contractors" and those are the numbers.  For example, $176 million.  

     The conjecture I'm posing to you, Ms. Powell, is that effectively what Toronto Hydro is doing -- because you haven't hired $7.5 million worth of apprentices, which we have on the record -- do work; they do productive work.

Instead, what you are doing is a substitution. Effectively, part of that $7.5 million of savings is covered in the $176.1 million of external design and construction work that is being done.  

     You've got a volume of work there, and normally, with your normal hiring practice -- which you have ended as of January 1st -- you would hire apprentices to do that work.  You still have that work there.  Obviously they're there to be trained, but they're doing productive work. 

     So now the volume of $7.5 million worth of work that apprentices would do is being done by external contractors.  

Is that not a correct inference of what you've told 

us about the $7.5 million savings or cost avoidance from just-in-time hiring?  

     MS. POWELL:  Not necessarily.  The contractors that we 

supplement our work force with is to deal with various projects.  I can think of one project in particular, Copeland or -- we also have Metrolinx. 

     Those are projects that we don't foresee spanning too far into the future to require full-time resources. So we do supplement with contractor staff.  

     MR. DUMKA:  That's fine and dandy; you've given us the two headline projects that you have in there.

But I think it would be safe to assume that that is not 80 percent of the 176 million. 

     If we take a look at the trending from 2011 to 2015, you've got ongoing work which is done by external contractors.  My conjecture is that simply that you're doing a substitution of that $7.5 million.  

Further, the conclusion I reach is, from an efficiency perspective, a cost efficiency perspective and the 

economics, the ratepayer would be better off if you had $7.5 million worth of apprentices doing the work and getting trained up.  

     You know, it's a one-for-one benefit right there, and I would also conjecture you are paying your external contractors more than $7.5 million to get that work done. 

     Anyway, I will leave it at that.  I don't think you agree with me, but the case seems pretty obvious to me.  Thanks for your response.  

     To get to -- sorry, do you have anything to add?  

     MS. POWELL:  No, I just wanted to add that, you know, I think it is in the company's best interest to have a flexible workforce, to hire on full-time resources.  Potentially you're incurring a -- entering into a 25- to 30-year employment contract, which then also comes with it additional costs.  

     MR. DUMKA:  I agree with you.  However, the basis of the $7.5 million is the delayed hiring of the people that you need on your payroll.  So you're delaying the training and you're actually paying for that training by having external contractors do it.

Anyway, thank you for your response.  

     I'm just going to focus now on the questions that I have come in to ask.  Hopefully I won't take very long. 

And I apologize, I don't have anything in the way of a compendium, because this comes from yesterday's transcript.  I had a discussion with Mr. Walker with regards to his philosophy with regards to the engineering that's done in the company. 

     I just want to read something out to you, and I am going to point you to a couple of undertakings. 

     Yesterday, on page 22 of the transcript -- I don't know if you people went through it.  I am sure Mr. Lyberogiannis did, because he was on the panel.  But on page 22 -- I'm not sure of the exact line, because I copy and pasted -- page 22, if you can go down, Mr. Walker says:

"In these kinds of projects..."


If you could keep on going down.  Oh, I must have missed that.  No, hold on.  Let's just go down.  I must have -- I was doing this on my phone on the way in, so I couldn't get the page numbers too well.


I apologize.  I've got the wrong reference.  Well, maybe you will bear with me and let me read out the quote from Mr. Walker.  I apologize for not having the correct page number. 

     This was a series of questions with regards to:  When do you bring work in-house as opposed to using contracted expertise?  And Mr. Walker said:

"In these kinds of projects..."


This is with regards to the battery, the installation of the lithium batteries, et cetera, that is on a pilot project. 

     Mr. Walker said:

"In these kinds of projects where they're new to our experience, we typically do use external expertise initially.  But we always have internal people involved in the process, and the intent is always to ultimately build that in-house capability." 

     He goes on further to say -- oh, you've got it right there.  Thanks very much.

"You know, I've always viewed engineering as kind of a core competency of a utility.  So we don't want to have those kind of capabilities, in the long term, not in-house."

     So Mr. Walker said something that I agree with.  And I understand, you know, in terms of the industry, you need that core competence in-house. 

     Now, in the course of our discussions through the day as well -- I think I got this page right.  It is on page 10.  Mr. Walker estimated that, roughly, he has 5 percent of external contractors, engineering contractors, on the payroll system.  

     So we see it right there.  Mr. Walker says:

"I'm not sure exactly, but at a guess I would say about 5 percent."

That is how much we have.

     And I ask:  Is that:

"5 percent of your engineering or 5 percent of your total spend?"

Answer:  "Sorry, 5 percent of the engineering cost."

     This was with reference to the payroll.  And the $8 million I talk about is the ballpark compensation for Society engineering staff. 

     So if we flip over to -- that's the context.  If we go to schedule J2.4, appendix A -- which I think was in the VECC compendium, if that is easier.  That is page 24, if we just flip to the table.


As you can -- my question to you, Ms. Powell, is, I assume when Mr. Walker said, you know:  5 percent is in our payroll system, the cost for those external engineers on your payroll system will be on the "Contract for defined term" category, would it not?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MR. DUMKA:  It wouldn't be there in the Society FTE headcount or anything?  

     MS. POWELL:  Correct.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.   That is not the point of my cross-examination, but I note that the FTE for "Contract for a defined term" is about 74,000.  If you've got an external contract engineer, it is going to be way more than 74,000, at a minimum double that, but that is just sort of an aside.

I see Mr. Lyberogiannis is going for the microphone --  

     MS. LONG:  Sorry, is there a question there?  I'm not following your question, Mr. Dumka.


MR. DUMKA:  Oh, I'm just -- it is just an aside. 

     Where I'm going is I want to find out where the external contractor is.  I got that confirmed.  It is on the "Contract for a defined term." 

     And I am also just pointing out that the average for that category for FTE is 74,000, and I would assume that a contract engineer is paid far more than 74,000 per FTE.

Is that not reasonable?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Maybe a clarification is in order here.  Mr. Walker was referring to engineering cost in the transcript that I was looking at.  We do not have any engineers on contract.  So we do not have any professional engineers that are on contract within Mr. Walker's organization, or, I believe, the company.  Ms. Powell might be able to speak to that more. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Oh, okay.  I must have misunderstood, because when I went through the transcript I understood him to say on the payroll.  That is what I understood him to say.  Maybe I am incorrect.  But that's --

     MS. POWELL:  They are contractors on payroll.  However, they are not designated professional engineers; they are supporting engineering work.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Oh, okay.  So they're on -- they're in that category of "Contract for a defined term" but they're not qualified engineers?  

     MS. POWELL:  Correct. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That didn't come across at all in the cross-examination.  That's fine.  Okay.  I will leave that.


We had a long discussion towards the end of the day yesterday with Mr. Nash on panel 3, trying to -- what I was trying to get from him was some ballpark in terms of the engineering work that is in the external contracts, the design and construction contracts.  And that's the figure that we're just looking at in CUPE 15.  That was the 140 million and 176 million.  

     And that's the background.  And my understanding, again, in terms of how engineering is externally contracted, et cetera, we -- and I hope I've got -- that's great.  Right over there.  We've got the 140 million, the 70 million, et cetera. 

     So the external design and construction contractors, that work volume pretty well mirrors the ups and downs in the capital spend in those years.  I think your lowest capital spend at Toronto Hydro was 2012.  So we have got those numbers there. 

     Mr. Walker, on page 11 of yesterday's transcript, I asked him about the use of these external contractors, you know, the design and construction firms. 

     And let's see which point exactly.  Mr. Walker said that -- oh, okay.  We use these external contractors to fill the peaks in our work, and the valleys of our work are done by our internal staff and provides the flexibility.

You don't use those external contractors or the in-house ones on the payroll, I guess, because you don't need them, that 5 percent, you don't need them in the valleys of your work. 

     And it's the same with the external contractors.  You don't use them in the valley of your work, right?  You let them go, et cetera. 

     So I guess my conjecture to you -- and we had a big back and forth yesterday in terms of the -- going back to CUPE 15, the design and construction contractor costs, as to what percentage of those numbers were -- represented design work, engineering work.  And for a while it was 5 to 10 percent, and I don't think we've really reached any resolution.

Just assuming it is roughly 4 percent, even in the -- which is below the estimate we got yesterday from Mr. Nash -- in your valley year, there's $71 million worth of external contract design and construction work.  So roughly 3 million of that figure is external design.  

My conjecture to you, in terms of Mr. Walker laying engineering as being a core competency, I'm wondering why, even in this valley year -- which is unusual for Toronto Hydro -- why you would use $3 million worth of external engineers, rather than have in-house capability.  

That's all fine and dandy.  If I look at your headcount, you actually had 56.8 FTEs of Society staff in that year, in your valley year.  

     So my conjecture to you, looking at the staffing plan for Society staff over the next number of years to 2019 --and I believe that is in schedule J2.6, where you've got the annual FTEs broken out -- my conjecture to you, Ms. Powell, is:  Why wouldn't you be bringing your Society staff to the same level of FTEs as you had in your valley of design and construction work?  Why is that not a reasonable level of engineers to have in-house?   

If you flip down, you can see the Society there, 2011, 

53.4, 2012, 56.8 -- and the 56.8 is in a valley of work, where you still spent several million dollars on external engineers to do design work.

And we see that we get up -- when you are doing this big work program in 2014, 2015, 2016, the number of Society engineers is only 54, even though the size of your work program is far greater than your valley when you had 56.8. 

     I don't understand, with this core competency, why you would only have roughly 54 engineers rather than a minimum of 57.  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Dumka, maybe I can respond to that in two ways. 

     One, what I gather from your question is that you are using the term "design" to be synonymous with engineering, and those are two distinct functions. 

     So that's one response, and I think we need to be very 

careful about drawing those generalities.  So those are two separate, distinct functions. 

     MR. DUMKA:  That's fine. 

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The 57 or 56 engineers that I believe you are referring to in 2012, the vast majority of those engineers are now residing in -- I believe back then resided within what was previously called our asset management group, what is now called our engineering and investment planning group.  So I think we need to be cognizant of that fact. 

     The other piece that I would like to draw to your attention as well is that when we speak about peaks and valleys at the high level, we need to understand that at the lower level, from program to program, from specific type of engineering work, there might be peaks and valleys within those areas. 

     And we need to be careful withdrawing the generality from high level to low level.  

     MR. DUMKA:  Fair enough.  But basically what we're looking at is about a 4 or 5 percent difference from the valley in your work, would you not agree, comparing the 54 engineers to the 56.8?

Everything else, you know, taken into consideration, we're still talking -- in your peak years, your headcount is 4 or 5 percent lower than it was in your valley 

year.  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  If you're referring specifically to the work that Society engineers do, then yes, the difference is roughly 10 percent or so, based on the numbers that you've identified. 

     However, keep in mind that the design and construction 

function is independent from the work that the engineers are doing.  I just need to be clear about that point. 

     MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That's fine.  All right.  Thank you.  That is all I have to ask today.  Thank you.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MS. LONG:  So I guess I am confused a bit now.  Yesterday I had asked a question about whether or not Toronto Hydro could give an estimate as to what their engineering costs were, both internal and external, and I was told that that was a difficult number to come up with. 

     Are you saying that it is actually even more difficult, that, if I look at the engineering and design number, that is not 100 percent engineering work?  Part of it would be considered to be -- I guess I always thought engineering and design would be part of the same category.  

And what you're telling me is that needs to be further broken down?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes.  There is a distinction between engineering work and design work. 

     The engineering work is predominantly done by professional engineers within our Society group.  Many of those are on the planning side; for example, scoping particular projects of work, conducting engineering analysis to determine whether a particular project should go forward. 

     Also, a number of our engineers are the ones that develop our standards.  

Now, on the design side, much of that work, internally speaking, is done by our CUPE staff, and that staff is, 

for the most part, applying the standards that an engineer has developed to a particular job.  

     MS. LONG:  I guess what I'm trying to get at is you're asking us to approve a capital spend for many capital projects, and we're trying to get a sense of the design, how much is being spent on design with respect to those capital projects. 

     So I am not sure that I am still clear on what that number would be, or how we would figure that number out. 

     Can you help me with that?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MS. LONG:  Or is that even a number that you calculate?  Perhaps it's not.  

But when you talk about engineering being one of your core competencies, I guess I am surprised that, you know, with a capital budget of X, there's not a number that goes toward engineering and design for these projects.  Maybe I have missed it.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Part of the reason why I am hesitating is because from an accounting perspective and a finance perspective, I'm not personally aware of specifically how that split is tracked. 

     And that's why I can't provide an awful lot of detail in that area.  

     MS. LONG:  That's fine.  I suspect it is an issue that 

probably crosses a couple of panels.  I just wanted to raise it as something that I raised yesterday, and I'm not sure that I am much clearer after hearing the answers that we heard today.  

     MR. SMITH:  We could take a look at it over the lunch break, if that would be of assistance. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

So, Mr. Dumka, you are complete. 

     Mr. Shepherd, you are going to start.  I understand your estimate is two hours? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am quite sure I will use every nanosecond of that.

 
MS. LONG:  I just wanted to let you know we have a hard break at 12:30; we're going to break at 12:30. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD: 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.     I don't think I have met you before –- I've met one of you, but most of you, I haven't. I represent the School Energy Coalition. 

     I want to start with your financial planning process.  

Who can deal with that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That will be me. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  If you can -- by the way, we have a compendium.  I guess I should deal with that, shouldn't I?  I think that has been provided to everybody.  

     MS. HELT:  Yes.  That will be marked as Exhibit K7.2, 

compendium of the School Energy Coalition. 

     EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, our compendium is all existing stuff on the record, with the exception of one page, which is page 44, which was provided to my friend yesterday.  

It is a calculation based on material that is in the evidence.  So I believe I did comply with the 24-hour rule -- barely.  

     So I wonder if you could start, witnesses, at page 2 of our material.  This is your overview of your financial planning process. 

     We've already heard in the evidence conference some 

discussion of this, but I want to take you through some aspects of it to understand this iterative process. 

     It's both top-down and bottom-up, right? 

     MR. JAMAL:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have a list of factors that you have to consider, if you take a look at page 2 of our material. 

     So you have -- in addition to your operational factors you see at line 11, you also have things like customer needs and preferences, rate impacts, value for money, et cetera.  So let me just talk about a couple of those.

In customer needs and preferences, you're not talking about getting the customers to vote on how much you should spend, right?  You're talking about, looking at it from an analytical point of view, what do they actually need, what do they -- not what they think they need; true?  

     MR. JAMAL:  What this phrase refers to is what the customers' needs are with respect to reliability, with respect to customer service, with respect to the impact on their bills.  It's a combination of reasons and it is a balancing of many different factors. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And conversely, the customer preferences is things that are more important or less important to particular classes of customers, right?

     So for example, it was an issue over the last few years, momentary outages, and that's something that has become more important because customers have said that bothers them, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you have to take those things into account when you are budgeting, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I would characterize that we have to take those into account as we develop the operational plans.  Not directly just financial planning, because the financial plans are determined as a function of the operational plans, which are influenced by the different factors. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I thought it was iterative.  I thought there was a top-down and a bottom-up, and they sort of did a dance and came to a conclusion; isn't that right?

     MR. JAMAL:  That is the planning process in general, yes.  Not --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you have rate impacts, and I am going to come back to this, but do you have a particular metric or methodology for including rate impacts in your analysis?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Which analysis are you referring to?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Your financial planning, development of budgets. 

     MR. JAMAL:  I see.  No, I'm not responsible for the development of rates, so I am not an expert in that area.  We look at it from a financial perspective, if you're asking the question.  I look at it from a general overall cost and base revenue requirement perspective.  

     I don't get into the depth of base revenue requirement, but, once again, that is beyond my area of expertise.  That is Mr. Seal, who is on the next panel. 

     But generally the rate impacts are assessed after the costs are collected.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  This piece of evidence that I am looking at is assigned to you.  

     MR. JAMAL:  It is.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know anything about how rate impacts are taken into account in the process?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I know generally how they are.  What I'm saying is that the impact on rates is more than just the collection of OM&A or capital.  There are other factors, such as rate riders and rate design, that I am not an expert at. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, how do you then, in your part of it, take rate impacts into account?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That assessment is done at an organizational level.  I look at it from, like, a line item level, from OM&A and base revenue requirement level.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you look at rate impacts from a line item level?  Help me with that. 

     MR. JAMAL:  What I meant is that the financial summary of the planning process results in total OM&A costs, total capital expenditures, and ultimately base revenue requirement, the mathematical result of those components.  

     From my work, I do not translate those financial impacts into rates, because that is beyond my area of expertise.  That is what I was trying to -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then in developing the budget you actually don't take rate impacts into account, right?  Because you don't know how they're calculated? 

     MR. JAMAL:  Sorry.  I was referring to -- I thought you were asking me specifically whether I do it.  As an organization, there were considerations in the planning process.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Tell me about those.  

     MR. JAMAL:  So when the -- the different operational units complete their operational plans, the finance team helps cost those plans, and we centrally aggregate those plans to determine the impact on OM&A, capital, rate base. 

     Those -- that information then is passed on to the rates team, who calculates the impact or the rough impact on customers. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't hear a feedback loop here.  What's the feedback loop?

What you just described is:  We figure out how much money we want and we calculate how much the customers have to pay. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't sound iterative to me. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Then what happens is that information is communicated to the executive group and a review is done of the plans that are proposed at that time.  

     There's discussions that are had amongst the executive group while assessing the operational requests, and decisions are made at that time.  And if -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have a witness here who is going to tell us about that?  

     MR. SMITH:  About what?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  About how rate impacts are taken into consideration in the budget process. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  You can ask Mr. Jamal, and if you have further questions about what the rates group does, you can ask both Mr. Seal and Ms. Klein, who is familiar with exactly how that took place. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually asked Mr. Jamal, and he said it goes to the executive group, and he doesn't know anything about it after that.  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's not what I said.  What I said --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So did I misunderstand?  

     MR. JAMAL:  What I said is that the rate impacts are determined and the entire plan is collectively assessed. 

The impact on customers to reliability, the impact on customer -- the requirements to meet the customer service needs are considered.  Rates are considered.  All the factors that were considered by the executive group.  And if those -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, no, go ahead. 

     MR. JAMAL:  The feedback loop that you are referring to is that when those impacts were assessed in the preliminary round, feedback was given back down to myself and the business units to reduce or adjust the plans according to the assessment that was done by the executive group, and to ensure that we meet the strategic goals of the organization and the RRFE.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me read that back to you, and tell me whether I've got this right. 

     You do budgets, operational budgets, based on how much money is needed, your assessment of how much money is needed, and the finance group supervises that process but the operational units tell you what they want.  Right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No, that's not true. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Step one.  Okay.  Help me. 

     MR. JAMAL:  So maybe I can start at the beginning.  You took me right into the cycle. 

     But initially there was some information communicated down to the business units at the outset, at the outset of the planning activity that was in mid- to late 2013, where the key people involved in the financial planning activity were asked to put together a multi-year plan, operational and financial plan, that would serve as the basis of this application. 

     At that time it was understood that there is a new framework that we had to -- we had to follow, and within that framework there were some strategic pillars that were described in the Board's documentation that we had to address as well. 

     So the other -- and one of those pieces of that framework was that we needed to consider customer service levels and also the customer rate impacts as well. 

     As a consequence of that, the instructions that were given to the planning -- the people involved in the planning team, operational and finance, was that we should exercise some restraint in asking for, you know, everything that we considered to be either optimal or is needed.

So that instruction was given at the outset. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that different from normal years?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No.  It's not different than normal years, except for it was more emphasized because of the new planning framework and in the -- we were trying to get more and deeper awareness and understanding of the regulatory and customer requirements.  So I would categorize it as more enhanced and more broad-based communication.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  [Coughing]  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, would you like to take a five-minute break?

Why don't we do that?  We will be back in five minutes. 

     --- Recess taken at 11:57 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 12:03 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My apologies, Madam Chair, every once in a while one sneaks up on me. 

     MS. LONG:  That's okay.  It gave us a few minutes to discuss a few items, so that's fine. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We were talking about your process.  I'm going to come back to the rate impacts in a second, because you have this cycle, and I want to see where they're considered. 

     But you also consider -- we're still on page 2.  You also considered value for money?

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And how do you do that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So value for money generally means that we get the maximum amount of benefit from a dollar spent. 

     So that is done at -- again, the assessment of value for money is done at different levels.

One of the examples cited in the conversation earlier today, for example, was the focus on having a more flexible workforce, a flexible workforce to manage the plan. 

     So, you know, we felt as an organization that we could 

get more investment in the O&M program and more capital 

investment for a lesser amount of money for lower paid 

contractors.  So that is one example of value for money. 

     Another one, particularly in my area, is instead of hiring full-time bodies to do work, for work that is either 

sustained or not sustained, we hired contract staff or students to help support that activity. 

     So those are a couple of examples of what I mean by value for money. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  You said that's not something you do, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  We do as an organization.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  So who does it in the organization?  Who does the value for money analysis? 

     MR. JAMAL:  Well, the analysis is done at the operational program level by the people who are doing it, by the people who are putting together the operational plans. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MR. JAMAL:  So again, in the example I cited, it's the general contractor cost versus internal cost would be done by a combination of the HR department and the operational 

department. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is value for money as a company, right?  If you're going to run line, how do you do that as efficiently as possible -- get the highest value of running line for each dollar, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Sorry, could you repeat your question?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  This is from the perspective of the company.  That is, if the company is spending money, you want to maximize the value you get for each dollar you spend, right?

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not value for money for the 

ratepayers, is it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No.  The value for money for the company is, in my opinion, the same as the ratepayers. 

     We are executing the work and the activities ultimately for the benefit of the ratepayers, whether they be reliability or customer service.  Ultimately, that is what the goal of the organization is.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think value for money for the company and value for money for the ratepayers are identical?  

     MR. JAMAL:  In the context of developing a rate application, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have a technology or a 

methodology to calculate, on a rigorous basis, value for money -- things like business cases, cost-benefit analysis, that sort of thing?  Do you have that?

     MR. JAMAL:  For a large initiative such as the operational centres, consolidation plan and the ERP implementation that was spoken about yesterday, we have business plans -- business cases. 

     But for specific items that I described, no.  They are done locally at the groups that are developing the operational plans.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So somebody says:  Hey, this would be a good idea; if we did it this way, we'll save money.  And nobody actually sits down and does the math to see whether the amount spent to do that is worth the benefit you are going to get?  

MR. JAMAL:  You're suggesting -- you're suggesting that someone track every activity that results in cost savings or value for money?

If that is what you're suggesting, no, we don't 

have a technology, we don't have a system.  To me, doesn't seem efficient to do it that way. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, if you decide to -- well, you talked about, for example, using contract staff and using students to do things instead of having full time staff.  In your own department, you do that. 

     Have you done some sort of an analysis to show that that makes sense, that in the long run you will get more output per unit input?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I don't need a complex spreadsheet to do that.  For me, it is pretty simple.  

I have to deliver some output, and I look at, you know, the cost of a student to do the work and the cost of a full-time employee to do the work. 

     What I have to do is just re-balance the work load and have some of the more rudimentary work be performed by the student, and he or she can get the benefit, and as an organization, I can deliver the output. 

     So I don't think a calculation like that requires an intense assessment. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you did no analysis at all, right?  

You don't, for example, figure out how many hours you get from a student, and how much is a student's hour worth in terms of output?  You don't do that, do you?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Well, that's how I came to the conclusion. 

I look at the cost of a full-time employee and a cost of a 

student, and if I can get the student to process a transaction that a full-time employee would do, that to me is an assessment.

     I am not sure I am catching what type of assessment you would like to see. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You do no analysis?  You have no external information that tells you that, do you?  

It is your judgment.  Your judgment is:  I get this student to do this the same way as this employee would do it.  It's not going to take any more time, and it's going to cost me less per hour.  Right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Those are pieces of external information.  It's the cost of a student and the cost of a full-time employee are relevant data points for me to complete that analysis.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You've made a large commitment to a more flexible workforce, fewer unionized people, more external contractors, particularly on the capital side, but also on the operating side. 

     And presumably, with those many dollars involved, you've done an analysis of why the flexible approach makes more sense?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. JAMAL:  You’d asked for details of a value for money assessment.  

There is no one central place for the value for money assessment, but that information is included in the evidence, throughout the evidence.

Again, I will cite the example of lower contractor costs.  We have cost per unit that we talked about this morning in the schedules related to the HR; that's the evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just want to deal with the two other items you've referred to here.

Productivity, now, you don't have a productivity metric per se, right?  There's a number that you say -- whatever you think you need -- operational department, you actually have to deliver this much of an improvement.  You don't have anything like that, do you?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

      MR. JAMAL:  Productivity metrics, again, are not my area of expertise with respect to this application. 

     However, there is an expectation that each business unit will deliver more for similar costs, or slightly less cost. 

     You know, I know, for example, from -- in the finance area, that overall we have seen a significant increase in transactions that needed to be processed.  For example, on the capital side, the finance team works very closely with the engineers, and as capital projects get completed, we put them into -- effectively put them into the fixed asset ledger, into services that form rate base. 

     And the volume of transactions has increased upwards of 40 percent since 2011, since the last rebasing year, and we as an organization, as a finance organization, have to find a way to manage that and become -- and not have the cost increase -- our costs increase at 40 percent. 

     So that is one example, a local example, that I can speak to you about productivity.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you go to the operational groups as you're managing this process, when you go to the operational groups is there some metric that you give them?

So, for example, it's quite common for companies that produce a lot of the same thing to have a unit cost, and they say:  This unit cost has to go down.  We have to drive this unit cost down.  Cell phones, for example.  If the manufacturer of the cell phone can't reduce the unit cost, then they don't get the contract next time. 

     So what do you do internally to drive down unit cost?  Do you have a metric that you use?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So first of all, this is not -- I wouldn't consider this a manufacturing organization, although I understand your illustration.  This is not a manufacturing organization, so you can't just do units.  It is -- I think Mr. Walker spoke about units and specifics around that.  And I can't elaborate any more.


So we -- I will give you another example.  Mr. Nash for the procurement department focuses on reducing the unit costs or the costs that are charged by suppliers.  So from that perspective we try to drive down the costs as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And what about internally?  What about your unit costs to do items of work in your work plans?  Do you have a metric to drive that cost down?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  In terms of work internally, again we would need to speak on a case-by-case basis, but as Mr. Jamal spoke about, you know, we don't consider this to be a unit cost-type business.  It is a little more complex than that. 

     What I can tell you, in my particular area, the maintenance planning area, for example, when the planners review year-end results or are in the process of planning, for example, 2017 program or 2018 program, they would look at some of the unit costs to determine how productive the organization is being.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

The last of these areas is maintaining financial health and viability of the utility.  I assume that's making sure that you're able to meet your net income and cash flow targets so that you don't run out of money and that you don't lose money.  Right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It's that we earn our regulated rate of return and maintain a good credit rating so that we can keep the debt service costs low for the company and the ratepayers as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it also includes cash flow, right?  I mean, your debt plan has to be in here too.  You have to make sure you have the money when you need it. 

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct.  To execute the operational programs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, many utilities actually have a top-down target, an ROE target, that is higher than the regulated -- the allowed rate of return, on the theory that if you miss it you still make your regulated return.  

     Is Toronto Hydro one of those?  Do you have a target that is higher than the regulated rate of return?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your only target is the regulated net income?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Our target is the -- like, our scorecards are developed at a corporate level, and they include net income, which are for the consolidated business, which include the regulated and unregulated activities as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so you don't meet your scorecard even if regulated does well, if unregulated does poorly, and vice versa, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Both of those are possibilities, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's interesting. 

     Okay.  On this same page -- I am not going to spend as much time on every page in this compendium, although that would be interesting, but I do want to ask you about the statement which you have talked about a number of times, various panels have talked about, this notion that you should be spending more on capital but you have chosen to spend less, I assume because of rate impacts.  Right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Would you refer -- refer me to the...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure:

"Toronto Hydro views that a capital investment approach well above $500 million a year" -- et cetera, et cetera -- "is optimal, but it has constrained its actual plan to that level."


Do you see that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's presumably because of -- in part because of rate impacts, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That wouldn't be your department?  That was executive saying that, right?

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct.  That along with the engineering group and panel 1, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And did the executive say at the outset of the process:  Don't go above 500 in capital?  Or did the 

executive say:  Try to keep your capital down.  We will figure out what the right level is later?  Or neither?  

     MR. JAMAL:  What I recall the executive saying is that, you know:  Determine what the distribution system needs for the long-term benefit of the system itself and for the ratepayer -- for the customers.  Come up with options.  And then they would make a decision.  


So it wasn't -- I don't remember that there was a specific $500 million target.  At the outset there was -- the plans weren't fully formed at that time.  

     So the ask of the engineering group was to come up with what was optimal for the -- optimal investment for the distribution system, and to take it from there, to have other options as well. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so when you got the strategic guidance from the executive group at the beginning of this process, that strategic guidance didn't include a capital expectation.

The guidance was:  Figure out what the right answer is and then we will look at it.  Is that right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No, that's not correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I misunderstood, then.

     MR. JAMAL:  That's not what I said.  What I said was it's -- is -- as an organization we need to determine what's necessary and required to maintain the distribution system.  

     So the ask was to the engineers and the subject matter experts, to determine what that need was based on the fully formed assessments that were undertaken and included in the 

evidence. 

     When that information was returned from the engineers and the output of that assessment was assessed, the decision was made.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well -- 

     MR. JAMAL:  So it's not necessarily saying:  Take a -- it is $500 million, and that is the number we're trying to hit.  That is not what the direction was.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I thought that's what I said.  I thought I said to you -- let me try it again. 

     My understanding is that the executive didn't say at the outset:  Here's a number.  Rather, they said:  Figure out what the real needs are, tell us that, and then we will start to give you guidance on what a reasonable number is.

Is that fair?  I am trying to play back what you said.  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Wonderful. 

     And so what happened then was that the engineering judgment, if you like, was for a higher spend.  And the executives, then, some of whom I guess are engineers -- some of them are engineers, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Said -- they exercised judgment and said:  No, a lower amount is more appropriate.  Is that right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The decision was based on a lower amount, yes.  Because of costs and rate impact and considerations, the decision was to select a less than optimal investment plan, but that would still enable us to manage the risk with respect to the distribution system.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your executive group basically substituted their judgment as to the appropriate level of capital spend for the judgment of the engineering group; is that fair?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I would suggest that that decision was formed with information from the engineering group; engineers talking to engineers, you know, leaders talking to executive.  And that information from the executive group was formed based on complete analysis and information.  

     It wasn't a broad-based -- not a very high-level or shallow look at the information.  It was based on the analytical information that the engineering team provided to the executive.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The engineers said:  Spend $600 million.  The executive team said:  Spend $500 million.  They both did an analysis; one won?  One was the victor in that discussion, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  As I understand, the engineers provided options, optimal options, and the executive made a decision on one of those options. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So when this says that the engineer said there is an optimal number, is that not right?  Because it says a higher number was optimal.  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the executive said:  No, we're not going to do the optimal thing.  Right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  The choice was not to invest at an optimal level in the distribution system, because we had to consider a broad-based -- the broad-based impacts. 

     Other considerations were necessary, including rate impacts. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am going for here, Mr. Jamal -- and I actually thought this was going to be a little easier -- is that this is not some empirical number, whether it is 500 or 600 or 295.  It is not an empirical number.

It is a number that comes from the judgment of some people -- the engineers, the executive -- or after a discussion; isn't that right? 

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. JAMAL:  The decision was based on information and 

dialogue between the engineers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not willing to say the information was a judgment call on the part of anybody?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I don't believe that to be true.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So they didn't exercise judgment, then?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Well, when you say "judgment," I'm interpreting that as a broad-based guess at a number.  That is my interpretation of it.  

If I am mistaken, then you can correct me.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, this may be a good time to 

break. 

     MS. LONG:  I think so.  We will be back in an hour.  Thank you.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:26 p.m.

     --- Upon resuming at 1:38 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  

     Mr. Shepherd, are you prepared to continue with your cross-examination?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair, yes. 

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. SMITH:  Just one small housekeeping item.  I had indicated, Madam Chair, that we would take a look at your exchange you had with Mr. Lyberogiannis. 

     MS. LONG:  Yes, you did. 

     MR. SMITH:  And we did do that, but haven't quite got to the bottom of it, because it took us a little time to find what I think was the transcript reference.  It was an exchange I believe you had not with Mr. Walker but with Mr. Nash. 

     What I propose to do, if it is of assistance to you, is we can just look at today's transcript and yesterday's transcript and pull it together in the form of an answer to undertaking, if that would be of assistance to the Panel. 

     MS. LONG:  That would be.  You're clear what I'm asking for, I hope?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, there was an exchange that stemmed out of Mr. Dumka's cross-examination, I believe, and it was -- it essentially asked how much of the engineering and design cost do you find, and it was -- stemmed off J2.29, which I believe related to the external contractor costs. 

     And then you had the exchange today, and there was -- you know, you had the exchange yesterday -- 5 to 10 percent; can you use this on 7 and a half percent; can we extrapolate out; it is more complicated than that -- and it went on for several pages. 

     Then today's discussion relating to, again, design and engineering, I believe it is going to be a fairly simple reconciliation.  One is external, one is internal. 

     But I want to be able to have access to Mr. Walker and pull it together and make sure we give you the right information. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  That sounds good. 

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you. 

     MS. LONG:  So we're going to mark that as an undertaking?  

     MS. HELT:  Yes, that will be Undertaking J7.3, then.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  TO RECONCILE PREVIOUS INFORMATION ON ENGINEERING AND DESIGN COSTS. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you for that, Mr. Crawford (sic).

Mr. Shepherd? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Time check.  I will try to be done by the break, if the break is at three o'clock, but I would say probably I will have 15 or 20 minutes after the break. 

     MS. LONG:  I have you down for another hour and a half.  You've used half an hour, and you're going to use an hour and a half.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fair, and I'm going to struggle to make the two hours. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD (cont'd):  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, I want to sort of talk a little bit about the top-down versus bottom-up approach; not what we just talked about, but something different, and that is the process. 

     If you would turn to page 4 of our materials, this is your evidence in which you say that the first stage of the process is the corporate strategy establishment.

Do you see that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I do.  I do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's communicated down to the operational groups; is that right?  The departments?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And we see on the next page, page 5 of our materials -- which is Exhibit 1C, tab 3, schedule 2, page 4 -- we see the circular chart, which we have also seen in other places, which is basically how this process -- how this iterative process works, right?

     MR. JAMAL:  It is an illustration of the process, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have the thing here that says "Start," which is the starting point of the process, but actually the development of the strategic direction and strategic goals is the start, right?  The actual start?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then that is communicated to the departments.  How is that communicated?  Is there a document?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So the strategic direction at Toronto Hydro, of Toronto Hydro, has been in place for a number of years, and that's described in Exhibit 1C, tab 3, schedule 1.  That is consistent with the RRFE strategy as well.  And that's communicated to the organization at large through many forms, or forums. 

     One is we have corporate engagement sessions, where this information is communicated.  We have regular meetings between the executive to their direct reports, and then the directors and managers to their direct reports, and that information filters down, and as well through the planning process at the end of each year.


So there's multiple ways in which this information is communicated down, and it's been consistent for a number of years.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  Okay.  I was under the impression that there was some sort of executive guidance to start the process, that the executives looked at:  We're doing a five-year plan.  We have these considerations.  Here's sort of some general thinking that will guide you all in understanding how to do your five-year forecasting and 

analysis.

Is there no document like that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  As I said earlier, the general thinking that is communicated down is -- stems from the corporate strategy and the RRFE.  There is no document that -- we didn't change our communication down, other than adding elements of the RRFE and anything that came as a result of that; for example, the consideration for planning over a longer period of time, you know, increased customer engagement, that type of thing. 

     So there is no -- there's no executive document other than what you see in the evidence that is communicated here. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you didn't ask your operational departments to all read the RRFE, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The RRFE requirements, or the requirements resulting from the RRFE, were communicated to -- by the regulatory team to the rest of the organization through the planning process. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How was that done?  What document started this off?  When the strategic direction was communicated to the operational groups, you had the normal strategic plan, which didn't have anything to do with the specific application, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You had your normal strategic plan. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Which is nothing special relative to this application.  It is just the normal way you do things, right? 

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you said:  Oh, but we also have to incorporate the RRFE.  That has to be communicated to the operational groups as well.

How was that done?  What document was used to do that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  How it was communicated with me was through dialogue, regular communications with the regulatory team. 

I'm not aware of a specific document that was distributed, but I know that I've -- I was working closely -- me and my team were working very closely with the regulatory team, where we had a better understanding through the process and appreciation for the RRFE. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have got an organization of 1,500 people, and you communicated this verbally?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Well, 1,500 people were not included or involved in the financial planning process directly --  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It was hundreds, wasn't it?  Or hundreds of people at the operational level involved in doing these budgets, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Right.  However, how the process was managed was that, you know, Ms. Klein, Mr. Walker and I had scheduled three conversations a week that we talked regularly to manage this very dynamic process. 

     So we in effect distributed or managed the work in parts, and then we aligned and communicated regularly to make sure that the information was brought together.  So there was a lot of dialogue, a lot of meetings that were had. 

     Another example is -- is my team, the finance team.  Ms. Rouse that you heard from on panel 1, although she is in finance, she sits among the engineers and spends more time with the engineers, so she is effectively embedded in that group. 

     Ms. Cheah, who you heard from yesterday, she as well works very closely in the case of the OCCP with Mr. Nash. 

     So there are very direct and strong lines of communication between the various groups at Toronto Hydro, where information is effectively communicated and shared. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if you explained the RRFE to the operational units, tell me what you said.  

     MR. JAMAL:  No, I conceptually explained the RRFE, but I was not an expert in the RRFE.  That communication would have been communicated by the regulatory team.

So that question is better posed for Ms. Klein. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your evidence, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It's my evidence, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you were in those meetings?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I was in the meetings with regulatory.  I wasn't in every meeting.  So I don't know of every meeting that happened, and I didn't attend every meeting.  It wouldn't be efficient. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move on to a couple of other things. 

     I had assumed that the strategic direction -- most utilities have a budget guidance document.  Like, it is actually a formal document that they deliver to their units that says:  Here's your inflation assumptions, here's what we're going to do about labour force strategy, here's what we're going to do about capital planning strategy, et cetera, with some limits.

You have no document like that, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  There is no such document. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I looked in the evidence and I thought I just missed it.  

Anyway, so you went through this iterative process and you have -- you have this circle here that starts basically with the operational people saying:  Well, given the overall business strategy, how much money do we need?  Right?  What are we going to do with it?

     MR. JAMAL:  Just to clarify, I said this was an illustration. It's not a linear process; it's more dynamic than that.  

As you can see, it is a broad activity that involves 

many subject matter experts, ranging from engineers to policy people, to regulatory people. 

     So it's more dynamic than this illustration indicates, and it's -- it is not linear.  So it did start, for example 

-- I can give you an example of some of the complications. 

     The initial question was, you know:  Do you start with a workforce plan, or do you start with an operational plan?  Does your workforce availability inform how much you can execute, or does your operational needs inform how you would hire?  

So it is not necessarily, like I said, just a very linear -- you don't start with just operational plan; it is more dynamic than that. 

     So Mr. Walker and Ms. Powell would meet regularly on that topic, to try to balance the needs that the engineering team determined, the executability of those plans or those options that were presented and that we talked about earlier, with the ability for a chart to be able to resource that. 

     So that is an example of what I mean by it's dynamic.  It's not necessarily that you start with operations and then it goes to workforce, as this picture indicates.  It is more dynamic than that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is all driven by a strategic direction, right?

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, for example, if management had said -- if executive management had said:  Our strategic direction is rates cannot increase above inflation, our customers can't handle any more than that, we can't do it, if they had given you that strategic direction, you would have a different plan, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  If their instructions were as simple as that, and if the situation was as simple as that, we would have a different plan. 

     However, there are consequences to doing that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course. 

     MR. JAMAL:  So, you know, this exercise was not about just meeting one element of the RRFE, or the strategic plan. 

     This was -- the plan that is in the application is reflective of many requirements that are before us, that impact the customers, that impact the utility in the short and long run. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  At no time did anybody give you a rate limit, did they?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Pardon me?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  At no time did anybody in the organization establish a limit on rate increases, did they?  

     MR. JAMAL:  To me personally, no.  But that question is better posed for Mr. Seal.  As I said earlier, I, with the organizational teams, developed revenue requirement and passed it on to Mr. Seal. 

     I don't recall ever having a conversation about specific rates, because rates are also formed or impacted by other activities, such as the OCP plan, or rates that are -- riders that are falling off. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you?  What is the OCP? 

     MR. JAMAL:  I'm sorry, the operation consolidation plan. 

     So that is just one element.  My point is there are many things affecting rates that I couldn't calculate myself to determine the impact. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And at no time did anybody ever say to you:  Revenue requirement, or revenue requirement per customer, can only go up at this rate or that rate or the other rate?  No limits were placed like that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The original direction was that we would try to keep, as best we can, the revenue requirement or customer impact -- generally customer impact at inflation. 

     That was the original impact.  That was before there was a deep assessment.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And what document was that in?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That was a verbal communication. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  From who?

     MR. JAMAL:  Between the CFO and myself. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is the CFO a witness here? 

     MR. JAMAL:  No, he's not. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Could I ask through you, Madam Chair, is the company planning to bring the CFO as a witness?

     MR. SMITH:  No, we're not. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you answer questions, Mr. Jamal, on what the basis of that inflation limit was, and when it was 

changed and why it was changed?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It was a general direction, initially, to reflect the fact that we need to consider the impacts to customers.  


That's what that communication was about, and that's what was communicated down to the operational teams. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not what you did in the end?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That was -- the outcome of the planning activity, which is reflected in the evidence, reflects the needs, after the bottom-up portion of the top-down, bottom-up process was considered as the impacts on rates were reflected in the application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so the process was driven by how much you wanted to spend, not by what the impact was on the ratepayers? 

     MR. JAMAL:  Once again, that is not what I said. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think that is exactly what you said.  So why don't you try it again?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Okay.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. JAMAL:  So perhaps I can reiterate the example I spoke to you about earlier. 

     The original direction that the organization provided was that we manage rates to, roughly, inflation, given the fact that customer impacts were a consideration, customer rate impacts were a consideration. 

     Customer service levels, the distribution -- the health of the distribution system was also another consideration.  Productivity was also another consideration.  

     And when that instruction was given out to the individuals and teams involved in the planning process, they came back with options.  

As I said this morning, on the capital side, four 

options were presented ranging from optimal to less than optimal.  

     And not only were investment options provided, but also consequences and impacts of those investment options were provided. 

     So through that activity -- through that activity the 

executives made a decision.  So that's an example of how the process worked.  From the top-down, the strategic direction was given.  Some rough limits were given for consideration, because they were part of the entire --effectively the formula. 

     The subject matter experts from the bottom-up developed plans, undertook a deeper assessment of the situation, and provided that to the executive to make decisions and effectively have trade-offs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Couillard gave you a target, right?

     MR. JAMAL:  There was no specific target that I received. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You just said the target was a limit of 

inflation.  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  That's a direction.  When you said "target," I'm interpreting that as a specific number.  

     There was a direction given; if you consider that a target, yes, then the target was given. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And was one of the plans that was presented to the executive one that met the target?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So once again, I didn't, in my calculations, determine necessarily revenue -– sorry, rate impacts, because that is not my area of expertise. 

     So it was directional.  It was directional, and I don't recall that there was any version of the plan that had revenue requirement increasing at lower or at inflation; they were higher. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Jamal, you said Mr. Couillard told you to keep it to inflation if you can. 

If you can't figure out whether you're keeping it to inflation, why would he give you that instruction?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That was the initial instruction.  That was the goal.  That was what we set out to do at the beginning of the process.  

     This was before the detailed assessments of the business needs, the customer needs, the system requirements in 2015 were developed.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Jamal, can I stop you there for a moment?  You said the original direction that the organization provided. I'm not sure what you mean by that.  Can you be more specific?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Sure.  Once again, it was a conversation between the CFO and I.  We were informed by our strategy and the RRFE framework, and it was -- at the outset of the meeting, at the outset of that discussion, there wasn't any -- we didn't have all of the information to fully form what the impacts would be, because it was at the beginning of the process. 

     So it was a consideration.  That was one of the considerations he had when we establish -- set out to complete the operation on the financial planning.  That was our goal.  

     MS. LONG:  I just wanted to clarify that, Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what happened was you ended up tabling four options for the executive to consider, right?

MR. JAMAL:  On the capital side, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Were they not integrated with the operating side?  I'm trying to understand how the executives could consider a budget if they didn't have the whole thing.

MR. JAMAL:  Right.  So when you start out with the planning process, we have effectively many groups working at developing their own plans. 

     For example, Ms. Powell would develop the workforce plan, Mr. Walker and his group would develop the capital plan, and with Mr. Lyberogiannis develop the operating plan. 

     So initially they're not all -- not all integrated at the outset. 

     As we go through the iterations that you talked about and that is reflected in this document, we start bringing all these things together.  So they're not all done in a linear fashion all the time, but it gets more mature as we go through the iterations and get closer to the end. 

     So initially they were not necessarily 100 percent integrated.  For example, if there was missing information that I might have -- that -- in an earlier version of the plan, I might have made some assumptions to come up with a fully formed revenue requirement impact.  But as the iterations went on, that information would get firmer and more integrated, to come up with a final plan, which is reflected in the application. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Each of the four options given to the 

executives had a revenue requirement number in it, right? 

     MR. JAMAL:  It was a rough revenue requirement, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the lowest cost of those options, do you know what the revenue requirement impacts were?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I don't recall.  I don't know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you to undertake to table that lowest-cost option, the full plan, that full option.  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I don't think that is a relevant line of inquiry.  I mean, ultimately we are where we are.  We filed an application.  There is no question that the application was approved, and the application has to be judged on its merits, not on the merit of some other application that wasn't filed.  So --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect, Madam Chair, what my friend is going to say in argument is there's no evidence that any other set of numbers could work.  

     Internally at the organization they actually did have a plan that had a lower cost to it.  This Board can see that plan, and then can understand from that how far can you go in reducing their request and what are the consequences, because as Mr. Jamal has said, the consequences are right there in the option.  You can see what they thought the results would be.  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, this was an interrogatory that was asked by the Consumers Council to produce all materials supplied to Toronto Hydro's board of directors and senior management regarding the application. 

     You might recall this issue arose in OPG most recently, and it arose back in the 2010-0008 application.  And in both instances, the Board held exactly what I have just indicated, that ultimately the application has to stand or fall on its merits that are before the Board, because otherwise we're into an endless iteration of things that ultimately weren't put forward by the utility and which are not fully before the Board. 

     I am not going to be saying, contrary to my friend's submission, that there is no evidence of anything else that the utility could have done. 

     My friend is going to be making submissions, no doubt, about what could be done by capital, what could be done with operating and maintenance expense, and the Board is going to render a Decision on it, but at the end of the day we're not asking you to make a Decision on this plan relative to some other plan that was never approved by the board or senior management.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, what my friend is asking you to do is not relevant here.  What is relevant is what your statutory mandate is.

Your statutory mandate requires that if there is relevant evidence of what the reasonable rates could be, you should look at it. 

     And what my friend is saying and what the witnesses -- I set it up intentionally to get to this stage, where the witness has said:  Our engineers did an analysis of what we could do with less money and what the consequences of that would be.

How is that not relevant to the Board's Decision?

MR. SMITH:  That is the application.  What the witness said is:  What could you do if you had a different capital plan?  And that was talked about by Mr. Walker at the very outset of the technical conference, where he talked about the options that were tabled, including higher capital numbers. 

     Nobody has said that if the number were lower there would be a different plan at any point in the evidence. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So –- okay.  That's very good.  That's sort of where I was going.  

     So then the question is -- you had four options for management.  None of them were close to what you had been directed to do.  You had been directed to go to inflation, and the closest you had to that was three times inflation.

Is that right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I don't remember the outcomes, but as I 

recall...


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. JAMAL:  So the capital options were presented by Mr. Walker and his team, who developed the plan.  And my colleague reminds me that some of that is included in the evidence.  I don't specifically remember what the consequences of each of those plans were.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, your counsel has just said that it was the lowest-cost plan that was ultimately selected, right?  Did I misunderstand that?  

     MR. SMITH:  What I indicated is that the capital -- and this is reflected in the -- I believe both in Mr. Walker's evidence, the evidence that's been prefiled, and the material given at the outset of the technical conference -- but the pacing of the capital plan.

The other options were for a capital spend that was higher than is ultimately reflected in the application.  That is what I intended to convey.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am trying to understand, Mr. Jamal, is:  Is there some point at which somebody in the organization tried to develop a plan for those five years that would be compliant or even close to what Mr. Couillard had asked you to do?  Did anybody ever do that plan?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That was what the goal and the attempt was.  That's what the direction from the outset was, that we would manage the impacts to customers. 

     So there were requests that are not included in the plan that -- not included in this version of the plan that were brought before the executive.  

     For example, Ms. Powell -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, this is not responsive.  I asked a very simple question.  I would like a very simple answer.

Did you ever produce a plan that was at or close to what Mr. Couillard directed?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I don't recall, no.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  I wonder if you could turn to page 7 of our materials.  This is a response to CCC Interrogatory No. 29.  And I just have a couple of things on this.

I am going to get to the presentation in a second, but just on the interrogatory response itself, you say:

"Departments were asked to identify their anticipated current and sustained needs for the five-year period."  

     I haven't seen any five-year budgets or any anticipated current and sustained needs for the five-year period in the evidence.  Is it in there somewhere and I have just missed it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So this is another example of how the plan reflects the RRFE framework, where we were informed by the 

regulatory team that there would be inflationary increases -- or, sorry formulaic increases over the five-year period. 

     So the ask of the teams that were involved in the planning process was to determine what their non-recurring operational needs and financial plans were for 2015 that are sustained, are sustainable -- so, for example, not to include non-recurring one-time charges in 2015.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, but I'm just reading this here and it sounds like it says:  Tell us what you need for the next five years.  Is that not what it says?  

     MR. JAMAL:  From my read, it says the ask was for 

anticipated current and sustained needs, which the intention there is not to include non-recurring items.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you never had anywhere in the 

organization a five-year OM&A budget, ever?  

     MR. JAMAL:  There is no five-year OM&A budget. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking you that.  I'm asking whether you ever had one.  Was one produced as part of the process?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, if you go to page 9 of our 

materials, this is a presentation that you gave to various 

departments, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it just you who gave it, or was it you and others?  

     MR. JAMAL:  This was just me.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  This is a PowerPoint 

presentation?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you produce this with the notes pages, please?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Sure.  There are no notes on it, but yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There are no notes?

     MR. JAMAL:  Not that I recall -- I will produce it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if there's no notes, you don't have to.  But if there are, I would like to see them. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Okay. 

     MR. SMITH:  We will look and see if there are notes, and if there's notes we will produce it.  And if there isn't, I'll take it there is no need to. 

     MS. HELT:  We will note that an undertaking, to produce the financial planning process update report, if there are notes.  And if there are no notes, to advise that there are no notes and it will not be produced.  That will be Undertaking J7.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  TO PRODUCE THE FINANCIAL PLANNING PROCESS UPDATE PRESENTATION IF THERE ARE NOTES, OR IF THERE ARE NO NOTES, TO ADVISE THAT IT WILL NOT BE PRODUCED.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am on page 11 now and I am trying -- I will go through this fairly quickly, because I want to get to more of the meaty stuff.  But I just want to understand a few things. 

     Basically, if I understand what you did, you said look -- to the operational units, you said:  There are a whole bunch of things that will go on in parallel, and we're trying to integrate them so that they work together. 

Is that sort of the general message here?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The message here was that we have, as I 

described earlier, many moving parts.  There are a lot of different aspects of the process that are occurring. 

     Also, it might be important for me to outline that this was delivered in February.  So a little bit -- it was at a time where I was -- I wanted to make sure that we could meet the timelines and have a good integration of the financial plan.  So that was the rough backdrop of it. 

     I was seeing, from my perspective, that there was a lot of activity going on by the different groups, and I just wanted to have a communication to kind of bring them together.  So that was the intent of this presentation. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So they had already started putting together their budgets?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The work had been initiated at that time, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this isn't your kick-off presentation?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No, it's not.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So was there another presentation for the kick-off, because this seems pretty early-stage to me.  

     MR. JAMAL:  It is in -- I would say it's not in the very early stage.  It was -- you know, the process had already begun. 

     So I would say -- I wouldn't say it is mid either.  We ended up finalizing the OM&A plan roughly in early June, and the CAPEX came after that in end of June, early July, in that time frame. 

     But the work had commenced before February.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask is, as you see on page 11, it says:  "Strategy and input not necessarily finalized."  So you weren't even at the point where people had a starting point, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  My point on that one, it wasn't the 

organizational strategy.  It was around -- for example, the 

formula, the CR formula was still being developed at that time. 

     If I recall the productivity, the approach to productivity and how we would address the RRFE requirements was still under development, from my perspective. 

      MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm confused, because I thought that you said that you went to the departments and said:  Tell us what you need.

And this sounds like you're saying you went to the -- or you wanted to go to the departments.  You didn't have the formula yet to say:  This is how much you're going to get; what is your plan within that total?  

     Is it either of those, or neither, or what?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The conversation -- I didn't go out to the departments and say:  This is what you're going to get.  

The idea was -- the conversation with them was that we will be filing a five-year rate application under a new regulatory framework.  One of the considerations is customer impacts, so develop a needs-based budget for 2015, not including non-recurring items. 

     So the formula was not a major factor in here.  It was a needs-based budget, what we needed to deliver our work. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This comment, "unsynchronized and overlapping activities," in the context of the rest of the presentation, I got the impression -- tell me whether this is right -- that you were basically saying:  People are not really getting -- not really focussed enough in this process, and one of the reasons I am here to talk to you is to help you get focussed.  Is that fair?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I wouldn't characterize it that way. 

     What my intention here was is that if we don't work in a synchronized fashion -- because we have run the risk of not meeting the time lines, or not having an effective plan. 

     If you recall, what I said earlier was that the groups, the different groups went out and started developing their operational plans, which is quite natural. This is not a linear activity; it is broad-based. 


So the idea was if we continued to do it in a decentralized fashion and not bring it together, then we run the risk of not meeting our deadline. 

     So if you proceed on to -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I reached the conclusion I did.  So maybe you could explain these next three slides –- four slides, sorry. 

     MR. JAMAL:  The first few slides explain the context, the concern I had.  If you recall, I said the meeting was about effectively managing risk, a process risk. 

     So I was outlining and setting the stage of what I 

considered to be a potential risk at that time, to inform the group that I was talking to. 

     And then if you go to slide -- if you turn to slide 15, you see what I was effectively talking about there as a potential outcome that we -- as operational plans are developed, that we centrally manage them and communicate them, instead of having various different conversations through the organization.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were concerned that the current state was not integrating things effectively enough, and you had a new post state which would consolidate the process under a more careful supervision; is that fair?  

     MR. JAMAL:  What I said was that I was concerned that if we didn't bring it together, we would not have an appropriate and a timely plan. 

     So it was not a risk that necessarily had materialized.  It was something that I saw might happen, and that I was trying to prevent. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  So if you go to page 17, here is your chart again.   We have already talked about whether there is a document for the strategic direction, and there isn't, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I pointed to the evidence in Exhibit 1C, tab 3, that's -- that's the effect of the strategy.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's your normal strategic plan.  I'm 

talking about for this process.

So here you have -- by the way, this is a new wording, "strategic limits and constraints," as opposed to "strategic goals."

So that is different now when you're presenting it to people, right?  You're saying:  These are the limits that we're placing, the constraints we're placing on you.  Right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Sorry, are you referring to -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 17. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Oh, 17?  Sorry, would you please rephrase the question, or repeat the question?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, sure.  In your evidence -- we looked at this chart before. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that set strategic goals. 

Now, when you presented it to the operational units, it said "strategic limits and constraints."  I would like to know what those limits and constraints were and how you communicated them to people.  

     MR. JAMAL:  So, for example, on the financial side we have debt covenant limits, in the sense that we're not allowed to be over-leveraged.  So that would be a type of a limit or constraint.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are not limits and constraints that you tell the operational groups:  Here's something that you can't do.  These are things that inform your view of what the results are.

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  Remember, this is an illustration.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand. 

     MR. JAMAL:  This is directional.  This is intended to facilitate conversation, to have people understand the process.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In this circular process here -- and I understand that it's dynamic and it is not really going in a direction like a merry-go-round; it is actually a lot of cross-pollination.  I get that.  But at various points there are reports and documents, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  From my perspective, the -- the documents -- when we consolidate the plan, there are -- yes, there are some documents.  If I don't have -- for example, if I don't have the workforce plan...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you don't have the workforce plan? 

     MR. JAMAL:  Sorry, so if portions of the plan have not been completed or cannot be reasonably estimated, there is no value.  I don't look at those documents, and I don't produce any documents.  Where it's worthwhile producing documents is when we consolidate the different moving parts. 

     So as I was saying earlier, before -- like, in the earlier versions of the financial plan there are natural inherent errors, there are natural incomplete activities, which I -- when I looked at them, I would fill in with proxies, because -- again, if I can use an example or illustration that might make it more understandable, is if I received a work -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  First of all, can I just stop you for a second?  I'm sorry.  My question was about documents.  Are you going to get to a document at some point?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I will. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  So as we go through the planning process and I receive a workforce plan or a proposed draft workforce plan from Ms. Powell, but I don't have -- we didn't have -- or a final labour rate, a negotiated agreement rate, for example, we may use a proxy for that. 

     If the operational centres consolidation plan or OCCP plan that was spoken about yesterday wasn't completed, I would use a proxy for that. 

     So inherently, we would have some documents at the end of a cycle, but they're naturally flawed or naturally incomplete, and that's a natural part of the process.  That's the point of having the iterations and having a stopping point to assess the situation, identify what isn't completed, what information is missing.  We would go back to the business units and the subject matter experts to try to fill in that information. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In this chart, you have at the top:  "Reassessment or assessment or reassessment and decisions".  I assume that is executive management, right?

     MR. JAMAL:  It is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Periodically they take a look and say:  Well, no, don't like that, do like that.  And send it back for review? 

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And immediately prior to that is "Integrated impacts."  That's partly you and partly regulatory, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because regulatory has to look at the rate component of it, and you have to look at the operational component, the dollar component?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want you to turn, then, if you could, to page 24 of our material.  This is page 7 of Exhibit 4A, tab 1, schedule 1.

And because I've been asking you all the way through this piece what were the top-down limits placed by senior management, and you said -- I mean, eventually I got this inflation thing.  But here's what you say:

"The planning approach is predicated on the concept of a top-down, bottom-up process.  Senior management establishes the top-down constraints.  Based on those top-down constraints, the business units exercised discipline and restraint in developing their bottom-up requests for funding."

     So I'm asking you:  What were those top-down constraints?  I've asked you several times now, and all I got was:  Try to keep it within inflation.

Is that all?  Is that it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So if I again can turn your attention to Exhibit 1C, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2 and 3?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MR. JAMAL:  So when I talked about strategic direction, it involves multiple aspects.  It involves the customer.  It involves the distribution system and operations.  It involves a financial component.  And it involves our workforce.  

     So when I said that the direction was to keep it within inflation, in context I was talking about one of those items.  There were other considerations that were also part of the process that are reflected in this evidence here.  

     So for example, when we undertake to invest in or maintain the distribution system, we need to consider the impact on the safety of our workforce, or the safety of the public.  So it's the operations, the engineering team would consider those types of aspects in the direction that we're going. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am just looking at those four that are on the screen, and I'm going to come back to value for money in a minute.

But operations, improved reliability, so did management say to you:  Here's the reliability targets I want your plan to meet over the next five years?  


[Witness panel confers]


MR. JAMAL:  No, specific reliability targets were not provided.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And was there any safety targets provided?  

     MR. JAMAL:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?  I mean, these seem like obvious things that every large organization does.  We look at this stuff for OPG, for Enbridge, for people like that.  They all have that.  Why didn't you have that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I can't speak to the processes of the other organizations.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn to page 25.  This is the last on this fascinating topic.

And that is, you have said that there were a number of requests that were declined in the process, that people asked for money and didn't get it. 

     And you have -- you have that same statement here at the bottom of page 25, which is 4A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 8.  And I wonder if you could provide a list of those OM&A requests that were refused, please, with amounts.  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  Just one moment.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, can you explain the relevance of that to the Panel? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Obviously Toronto Hydro thought it was relevant.  They put it in their evidence.  They say:  We have not asked for everything that we should have asked for to run the utility optimally, because we're trying to be careful with the ratepayers' money.  We're trying to control our spending.

I don't believe them, so I would like to see -- and I would hope that the Board might not believe them in the end, and I would like to see what sort of things they said they weren't going to do.

Because if the things they weren't going to do were buy Porsches for all the executives, then that's a little different than, you know, repair these eight broken transformers.  

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith?

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I didn't know I was going to get a Porsche; I got the wrong job. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't know you were an executive. 

     MR. SMITH:  There is an example of this already in the evidence; it's the just-in-time hiring strategy. 

     So I don't -- I think Ms. Klein would be in a position to speak to this.  So if my friend wants to ask the question of Ms. Klein, if the Board thinks it is relevant when she is on in panel 5, that's fine. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, it is just a list.  I mean, they must have a list of the things they said no to. 

     MS. LONG:  Is there an actual list?

     MR. SMITH:  I don't think there is an actual list. 

I think there are -- we can provide the larger-ticket items, but I don't think there is at hand a -- there isn't a list you can just print out; let's put it that way. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, it says:

"Toronto Hydro did not put forward other possible sustained and reasonable OM&A requests."

That, by the way, they think would be operationally optimal or required. 

      MS. LONG:  Well, I think what Mr. Smith has just said is there is not a list.  So I put it to you I would put this question to Ms. Klein at panel 5, as to just what this statement means and what those requests were.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     I wonder if you could turn to page 26 of our materials.  I think I am still picking on you, Mr. Jamal.  

     If I understand the sort of gist of 26 through 28, it 

is that the OEB has a certain way of structuring the presentation of expenditure and budget information.

But you have a different way that you have used for some time, which is on a department-by-department basis.  And that's how you actually do your budgeting internally; is that right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I wonder if you can then -- that saves me a whole bunch of pages, and I can go directly to page 31.  

     And what I am looking at is -- this then tracks your OM&A budget for 2011 through 2015, actuals and test, to the 

Departments; correct?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I took a look at that and I can -- I can figure out the budget for each department simply by adding up the numbers under a particular department's name, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And is there a department-by-department 

budget in the evidence somewhere, so I don't have to make it up?  Is it actually broken down that way, or is this the only place where I could get it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Well, the department-by-department budget, I don't believe it exists in here. 

     We conformed to the filing requirements, which, as I 

understand it, asked us to produce the OM&A budget by segment. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not being critical in any way.  I am just trying to get at the information.  That's all. 

     MR. JAMAL:  I don't believe there is one. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there's seven departments; is that right?  I counted seven different ones in the department category: electricity, electrical OPS and procurement, engineering and construction, customer care, HR and safety, finance, IT and risk, and regulatory affairs and counsel.  

     MR. JAMAL:  The way it is presented here, there are seven, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is that not how you do it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  By and large, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So before I get to the department budgets, I wonder if you can talk a little bit about this restructuring cost thing.  

You talked about that already more than once, including with Mr. Janigan today, I think. 

     But if I understand what happened, in 2012 you were 

forced to cut costs, in part because you didn't get approval for an application that you'd made for increased rates. 

     And this $27.7 million under restructuring costs is the costs of things like termination pay, severance and things like that, to reduce your base budget; is that right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so those are not costs associated with the 2012 operation of the utility in the normal sense, right?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It's not a normal expenditure, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the reason why I ask that is 

because you were able to reduce to a new base level of spending by doing that.  You took an aggressive approach.  You reduced staff.  You reduced outside costs.

And part of the result was that your base budget actually went down to 215.8, your OM&A, from 238.6; is that fair?

     MR. JAMAL:  It is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason that that is important is because now you've got increases since 2012, and you've been measuring all of the increases from 2011.  

But in fact the increases from 2012 are much higher, aren't they?  You had a new base budget and then you have been increasing since then, haven't you, for three years?  

     MR. JAMAL:  The increases from 2012 would be more than they would be from 2011.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So for example, I looked at electrical operations and procurement, and it appears to me -- and I mean, I'm not asking you to agree with the numbers.  The numbers are the numbers. 

     But it appears to me that electrical operations and procurement goes up from 101.8 in 2012 to 123.7 in 2015, which is a 7.1 percent per year increase.  

     So my question is -- I would have thought if you're expanding your capital plan, your electrical operations costs should go down, shouldn't they?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Mr. Shepherd, this was a topic that we spoke at length about on panel 1, and some of the reasons why, in some areas, costs would not be reduced when a capital budget is increased.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have nothing to add to that? 

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You think 7.1 percent per year is a 

reasonable number?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  The reasons why the 2015 budget is in place are within the evidence, and there's very valid reasons for that, and risks that that spending is mitigating is all covered in that set of evidence. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Before I go on to the other ones, I just want to ask -- there are three categories at the bottom called corporate-wide, common costs, allocations and recovery, and of course the restructuring which we just talked about.  

     But those common costs and allocations and recovery, do they apply to all of the various categories in some way?  Or are they disproportionately applicable to some categories, some departments, as opposed to others?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It's disproportionate. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that somewhere in the evidence, how they are fairly allocated between the various departments?  I looked and I didn't find it, but --

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. JAMAL:  The common costs and adjustments are described in Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 20.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MR. JAMAL:  And the allocations and recoveries are described in schedule 21.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking how they are -- should be allocated between the seven departments.  Can you help me with that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I will use one example to see if I can help with the question.

So in the common costs -- the common costs include input tax credits, a credit, effectively, from the government.  So that doesn't necessarily apply to any one business unit; it's more of a common or a corporate cost. 

     So that one -- there is no standard application to the entire company for that.  It resides in that -- a function of that department. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I asked the question:  Should it be allocated disproportionately or proportionately?  And you said disproportionately.

Otherwise, I wouldn't have even asked the question.  

     MR. JAMAL:  What I meant when I said that is that there is no standard allocation for all the transactions or items that make up that balance.  That is what my intent was. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If we just assume the common costs and allocations and recovery are allocated pro rata to all the various departments, would that be reasonable?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Not to me they wouldn't, because they don't really apply to the activity of that function.  So I don't see how, for example, a tax credit impacts fleet and equipment services. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If engineering construction went up by 32 percent in three years, but you really -- your recoveries went up by a big chunk of that so that the net was lower, that's relevant, isn't it?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I'm sorry, I don't understand the question.  Would you please repeat --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have a figure of 20.2 million for allocations and recoveries.  You have an engineering construction cost in 2015 of 40.3. 

     If a big chunk of that 20.2 is recoveries associated with engineering construction or allocations associated with that, then the increase in engineering construction is lower than it otherwise appears, right?

I am just trying to get fair comparisons.  That's all.  If the differences in allocations or in common costs and adjustments are not material, then I won't spend time on it.  

     MR. SMITH:  I don't know whether this is -- assists or not, but schedule 21 Mr. Jamal referred to does break out the allocation of the $20.2 million.  This was an item that was mapped to Ms. Cheah on the hearing plan. 

     I don't believe there are any -- I don't know whether there were questions in relation to it, but I am not sure if this assists Mr. Shepherd or not.  But that is where that 20.2 is broken out.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that doesn't tell me what departments it is allocated to, but anyway, if you have no more to add here, that's fine.  I don't want to spend a lot of time on this. 

     If there's some way that allocating these numbers would result in a substantial difference in the rates of increase of the various departments, I would like to know.  But if it's not, then let's not waste our time. 

     MR. JAMAL:  I have no more to add. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     Let me go on, then, to engineering construction, because you talked today about -- in fact, you talked several times now about what engineering construction actually does. 

     This is not engineering and design now.  This is something different, right?  Or this is the whole department?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  This would be the whole department. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But this is the OM&A component.  So this isn't the design of individual projects.  That would be capitalized, right?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is the ongoing activity associated with having a standard design for things, planning, engineering planning, that sort of stuff, right?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Those functions are within our engineering construction department. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so I see that going up 10.5 percent per year over the last three years, and I'm thinking, if it was -- if it was engineering the projects, I would get that.  But it is not engineering the projects, so I don't understand how it is going up 10.5 percent per year.  Is it driven by the capital spend?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I can provide a few examples as to what would be driving that.  For example, if I was to refer you to Exhibit 4A, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4, I can speak to a couple of examples.

Our planning function, which is about seven rows down, resides within our engineering construction department.  And you will notice that there is an increase there.  Reasons for that increase -- and I can refer you to those too, if I can direct you to Exhibit 4A, tab 2, schedule 7.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have read this stuff.  That's not --

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I can walk you through most of these examples and provide very valid reasons as to why they're increasing.

Planning would be within our engineering and construction group.  Work program execution management support would also be within our engineering and construction group. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't really have time, given I have a limited amount of cross-examination time, to go through line by line.  I would rather if you could focus on the question, which is:  Is this driven by the capital spend?  As capital goes up, this goes up; is that right?

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  It would be difficult for me to generally say that.  As we've discussed before, there are puts and takes.  In some areas it would be driven by capital spend; in other areas it would not be. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me move on to customer care, then, because customer care is going up 7.5 percent per year. 

     I guess I didn't understand why customer care would be one that would go up at a rapid rate, given that, A, you're adding customers that are less of a problem than your average customer cost, and you should be getting economies of scale.  So why would it be going up 7.5 percent a year?  Help me with that. 

     MS. KIRK:  The 7.5 percent a year, are you looking back at 2011?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  '12.

     MS. KIRK:  So you're starting at 2012?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You reduce your base level of spending in 2012, and then you have raised it 7.5 percent a year for three years.  I'm asking why. 

     MS. KIRK:  So if you turn to Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 13, the year-over-year variances and segment costs are provided.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And I am asking:  Where are the economies of scale?  

     MS. KIRK:  So with -- let me just get to the right section -- so yes, 2012 was the restructuring.  Then we go into 2013.  We had -- by this point in time the majority of our customers were all on smart meters.  So there's -- a lot of additional costs are in meter data collection and the services regarding that. 

     You know, we're going from reading meters once every two months to hourly reads.  So that is a portion of the increase. 

     Postage costs throughout this time frame have increased substantially.  

     We also have certain contracts with outsource service providers that were renegotiated and had been at a lower cost for a number of years.  Therefore, a higher cost was imposed in 2013.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could just turn to page 35 of our materials.  In the last -- in that same three-year period you've got about 10 percent of your customers on e-billing, right?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, you got even more than that on your portal now, right?  

     MS. KIRK:  Just to clarify, the 10 percent of customers was not over that time frame.  We had -- we started e-billing in roughly 2002, and it has been very slow to grow,

     So I can't recall what level we were at in 2011, but it's been nominal over the last few years.  We're at 12 percent, approximately 12 percent at the end of 2014.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have added another 10,000 customers since this figure?  12 percent would be another 10,000, roughly. 

     MS. KIRK:  Roughly. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand why that is.  Why wouldn't you have more on e-billing?  

     MS. KIRK:  The e-bill channel -- we would love to have more on e-billing, but it is very difficult to move customers to e-billing, for a variety of reasons. 

     Looking at best in class for Canadian electricity or 

electrical utilities, it's about 30 percent and there is very few that have that.  Most are at our levels, or even 

lower.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have targets for 2015 to 2019?  

     MS. KIRK:  For e-billing?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. KIRK:  No.  We don't have firm targets.  We would 

obviously like to increase e-billing. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You do have somebody responsible for 

expanding this, right?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And doesn't that person have a metric where you say:  This is what we expect of you?  

     MS. KIRK:  We set targets each year.  We haven't set those targets for 2016 to 2019.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I mean, I have to tell you I can't imagine still getting hard bills on things.  And, 

you know, if I told my bank I wanted my statements sent to me in hard copy, they would laugh. 

     So I don't understand why you're getting such resistance, and why you don't have a more aggressive strategy to get more.  

     MS. KIRK:  We do have a strategy.  Last summer, we 

consolidated our portals.  We had three separate portals online.  One was for time of use presentment, so all to do with energy management, we had a separate e-bill portal, and then My Toronto Hydro portal that dealt with account -- deals with account management and moves. 

     We consolidated those portals under one log-in towards the end of last summer, so we are hoping that that will help with the penetration. 

     But as I said, across our peer group, we're all struggling to get that customer uptake. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you took that step of consolidating the portals in 2014? 

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have a plan for where 

you want to end up?  How do you do a business case on that, if you didn't have a target?  

     MS. KIRK:  Where we want to end up with e-billing?  We would love to end up at 30 percent.  But the effort -- it is still a customer preference. 

So you have to balance how much you're going to spend on customer communication and incentive plans to get customers to make that switch, and what it's worth.  

Typically, in current rates, converting 1 percent of our customers to e-bills results in approximately a 25,000 saving to billing and printing costs -- postage and printing.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It also reduces your customer calls, right?  Your call centre?  

     MS. KIRK:  Not necessarily. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you studied that?  

     MS. KIRK:  We haven't done a formal study, no. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you looked at what the utilities in the United States have found when they do that?  

     MS. KIRK:  No. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you consolidated the portal, that cost some money, right?   

     MS. KIRK:  Yes, it did. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So did you do a business case to 

figure out what results you had to achieve in order to make it a good investment?  

     MS. KIRK:  That would be in the IT business case.  I don't have that at my fingertips. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they would have had to talk to you.  They wouldn't know how many more e-billing customers they would get, would they? 

     MS. KIRK:  The consolidation wasn't simply for e-bills.  It was to basically get rid of old technology that we were using for the other portals.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it was -- 

     MS. KIRK:  So it wasn't just driven by e-bills.  It was also driven by customers' feedback regarding the 

inconvenience of three different log-in procedures for three different portals. 

     So there was operational needs and customer satisfaction and ease-of-use rationale that went into the business case.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I was going to say is it was driven by customer care, right?  You were trying to do something to improve the situation for your customers, right?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- customer care is your department, right?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so did you look at whether it was a good idea to do it from a financial point of view?  

     MS. KIRK:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you did an analysis.  You said:  Okay, we're going to spend this much and this is the benefit we're going to get from it.  Right?  

     MS. KIRK:  Well, yes.  The benefit you're going to get.  The benefit -- there is obvious benefits, but there is also benefits that aren't as obvious.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking you -- 

     MS. KIRK:  So can you make a clear distinction between if a customer is on e-bills on our portal, that they will never call us?  We can't do that.  People do call regarding an e-bill.  It is a bill enquiry, just the same as if you receive a paper bill. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to figure out is the 

dollars. 

     You spend a million dollars, let's say -- or IT spends, but presumably they charge it to you to fix this portal and there has to be some payback.  Did you do an analysis?  

     MS. KIRK:  The analysis was done at the business case.  I don't have that available.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you undertake to provide that business case, please?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.   

     MS. HELT:  Undertaking J7.5, to provide the business case.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  TO PROVIDE THE BUSINESS CASE ON WEB PORTAL CONSOLIDATION.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  As you can see, Madam Chair, I am asking my questions faster and faster. 

     If this is a convenient time, you ---

     MS. LONG:  Well, you have 15 minutes.  So I think we would like to go to 3:15 and get through your cross-examination. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And keep the pressure on?  

     MS. LONG:  Then we will let the panel have a break and come back, and then we have some questions. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to go to -- well, I have one other question about this. 

     You don't yet have electronic account management for your commercial customers?  

     MS. KIRK:  No, through -- when you say "electronic account management," can you clarify that?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  A portal they can go to, to do all of their stuff online, rather than by calling you, or getting a bill.  

     MS. KIRK:  It depends on the class of customer.

So our large interval customers have an available online tool for energy management.  That said, it is very old and outdated.

The smaller commercial customers, we have not yet -- there is a project slated for the 2015-2019 time frame to move those customers into My Toronto Hydro.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's in the budgets that we have 

seen for 2015; is that right?  

     MS. KIRK:  It's in the IT portfolio in the rate case.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that not in place already?  

     MS. KIRK:  The complexity.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I --

     MS. KIRK:  Part of the complexity is the secure log-in process, the registration process.  

     So for residential customers, we have a lot of available information regarding those customers, such as date of birth, driver's licence, those kind of pieces of information.  So when they register, we know that the person in the portal is the actual customer. 

     For commercial customers, there is much less available in the way of secure information regarding that customer.  

And based on customer volume, we have a lot more residential customers than commercial customers, so we had to chunk this project out in phases, so the residential customer was the first phase.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The banks already provide this to their 

customers fully, right?  Their commercial customers already have all of this, don't they?  

     MS. KIRK:  I can't comment on that.  I don't know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, haven't you looked?  

MS. KIRK:  The banks?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't you be looking at what is available, what other businesses, large businesses are doing with their business customers?  

     MS. KIRK:  As I mentioned, there is a project in this time frame to move those commercial customers into My Toronto Hydro. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to HR and HR 

strategy.  

     And maybe we could start with -- I'm skipping stuff.  I wanted to start with page 38.  This is just sort of a quick question.  

Who is this?  

     MS. POWELL:  That would be me. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  So from -- you see table 6 here?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So from 2012 to 2014 you averaged 23 people through your training program, and you're proposing in the test period, the five-year test period, to average 56 a year.  Why is that?  

     MS. POWELL:  We're trying to anticipate the upcoming retirements.  So we're trying to balance this -- the hiring plan balanced with the retiring plan. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Except in 2011 you had 78.  So you dropped it in 2012 through 2014.  I am asking why you did that.  

     MS. POWELL:  2012 was the year where we had restricted funding.  So training programs are run through OM&A, so we scaled back some of the training that year.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2012 through 2014, that was during the IRM period, you were spending shareholder money, and so you didn't spend it.  This wasn't important enough to spend shareholder money.  It was important enough to pay ratepayer money.  If you can get it from the ratepayers you will spend it; is that right?  

     MS. POWELL:  We were focussed -- the company had to prioritize and focus its spending. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't have to prioritize now?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I don't understand.  Why is it different in 2015 than in 2012?  Why can you have 77 people go through the program in 2015 with ratepayer money, and 12 through the program in 2012, when you don't have as much ratepayer money, when you have to use shareholder money?  Why is that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I will try to answer that question.  So in -- over the IRM period, 2012 to '14, we were given a spending envelope by the Board and we worked within that spending envelope.  That was the direction we were given, and that is what we adjusted our plans to be. 

     In 2015 we have presented a needs-based budget, what we think the distribution system requires, what the customer service expectations are.  And this is a consequence, this number that we're talking about now is a result of that needs-based budget. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board approves the budget, then you will train these people, and if the Board doesn't approve the budget, you won't; is that right?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. JAMAL:  We will have to assess what the Board does or not do after the Decision is rendered.  But this is what we believe is necessary.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My next question is on page 39.

And it is an interesting chart, this figure 1, because it shows that up until 2011 you were adding people and you were also increasing your capital plan.  Right?  And they were related: correct?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then in 2012 you got the unfavourable Decision and you cut people back and you cut your capital plan back, right? 

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And now you are increasing your capital plan but you are not increasing people, and that is because you have developed a new strategy, which is:  We don't add people anymore; now we contract this stuff out.  Right?  

     MS. POWELL:  We have a -- yes.  We're supplementing with contractors.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you did an analysis of why it's more efficient to use the contractors rather than use internal staff, did you?  


[Witness panel confers] 

     MS. POWELL:  In our hiring plan, what we've identified is that we do need a core set of -- core trades individuals to carry out our capital plan.  Whether we have spikes in that plan, we will supplement that with contractors.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That's not responsive to my question. 

     Did you do an analysis to show that it's more efficient to use contractors than to use employees?  

     MS. POWELL:  I'm -- in HR we're focussed more on the core trades full-time employees, as opposed to the cost of the contractors.  Perhaps --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, who can help me with this, then? 

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  I can give it a try, Mr. Shepherd. 

     I know when I was sitting on panel 1 there was some discussion around cost benefits of using contractors in comparison to internal forces.  So we did discuss that. 

     Those analyses do go on and do occur, and I believe there is evidence on the record in that regard.  That information would have informed the hiring plan that has been submitted here. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm sort of asking a much more specific question.  

     The company made a decision at some point:  Don't hire so many CUPE people, mostly, but instead contract that stuff out.  And I assume because it's -- you're talking about $50 million a year, probably, I assume that somebody sat down and did a numeric analysis of that:  Why is that a good idea?  What are the pros and cons?

Did somebody do that or not?  


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. SMITH:  I apologize.  I may be missing Mr. Shepherd's question, but my recollection of the cross-examination in relation to the capital planning panel was that there was considerable cross-examination relating to the metric used to evaluate the cost of external resources to perform work relative to internal resources. 

     I am not sure if my friend is getting at something different than that, but that was a focus of some cross-examination and is discussed in the evidence.  So I am not sure if he is getting at something different than that or not. 

     MS. LONG:  I think Mr. Shepherd is asking if there was an actual study done.  Is that what --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have read that evidence, and the thing that jumped out at me was:  Where's the analysis, where is the business case for changing your strategy that is a quarter of your -- your compensation costs?  It is a big number.  

     MS. POWELL:  From a full-time resourcing perspective, and based on historically what we've been able to deliver upon capital, we know that the hiring plan that we put in place will allow us and enable us to deliver on the capital that we've historically been able to deliver on. 

     In terms of the additional capital that we can execute and the additional uses -- the additional use of contractors, that analysis is not something that I have personally done.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and so far I haven't heard any of the company's witnesses tell us who did the analysis and produced that analysis. 

     Can somebody produce that analysis?  

     MR. LYBEROGIANNIS:  Maybe just to clarify, are you asking specifically for the difference between 2011 and 2012?  Or are you asking for the analysis that resulted in the hiring plan that's presented here between 2015 and 2019? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Neither of the above.  You changed your hiring strategy.  You went more to contractors and less to hiring.  It was a deliberate decision.  It was presumably made with some analysis.  I'm asking to see the analysis.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, we may be missing each other, but we can take an undertaking to see if there is something that is further responsive beyond what was discussed in the evidence and the capital plan, and if there is, we will produce it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine. 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd, does that satisfy your request?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine. 

     MS. HELT:  All right, then.  Undertaking J7.6 will be to determine whether or not there has been an analysis prepared to show the difference between using internal Toronto Hydro employees versus employees who are contracted out, and if there such an analysis, to produce it. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.6:  TO DETERMINE WHETHER THERE WAS AN ANALYSIS PREPARED TO SHOW THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN USING INTERNAL TORONTO HYDRO EMPLOYEES VERSUS CONTRACT EMPLOYEES, AND IF THERE SUCH AN ANALYSIS, TO PRODUCE IT. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a couple of questions on retirements and aging work force.  

     Do you have any analysis of how many of your employees leave the company, retire, and go work for contractors?  

     MS. POWELL:  We don't formally track how many of our retirees leave our company, retire from our company and work for third-party contractors, no.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that something that would be important to you?  


[Witness panel confers]


MS. POWELL:  I'm not sure why that question is relevant.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If somebody leaves at 55, you could get 

another ten years out of them.  But if they leave at 55 because they're going to make more money at a contractor, and then you are going to pay that contractor that higher wage, plus an overhead at the contractor, wouldn't that matter to you, for the same person that is working for you now?  

     MS. POWELL:  I'm not sure whether they're planning -- whether they would make a higher wage at the contractors.  What we do know is when we contract out, we pay a per-unit price for that service.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you look at table 2 on page 43 of our materials?

Madam Chair, I am almost finished this section, and I think I am going to have to leave the last section, 

because I just don't think I will have time.

But I think I can do this section in sort of five minutes. 

     MS. LONG:  That's fine. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So table 2 on page 43 of our materials, which is 4A, tab 4, schedule 3, page 12, I have a couple of questions about that. 

     First of all, this table -- do you know what the effective date of that table is?  

     MS. POWELL:  I don't want to guess, but I believe it was done earlier this year.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Earlier in 2015?  Or do you mean?  2014?

     MS. POWELL:  2014, probably -- I don't want to guess, but I can tell you what the effective date is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is basically 2013 data, if you like?  

     MS. POWELL:  2014. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you did it at the beginning of 2014 then it is 2013 data, right?  StatsCan doesn't give you data from the day before?  

     MS. POWELL:  StatsCan?  Let me see.  I would have to look at the effective date.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I am going to ask you to 

undertake to tell us the effective date of that, please. 

     MR. SMITH:  Sure. 

     MS. HELT:  Okay.  J7.7, to provide the effective date of table 2, Exhibit 4A, tab 4, schedule 3, page 1225. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.7:  TO PROVIDE THE EFFECTIVE DATE FOR TABLE 2, EXHIBIT 4A, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 3, PAGE 1225.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The column, "Statistics Canada percentage of workforce," that is all the workforce, right?  That is not particular subcategory, like utilities, for example?  

     MS. POWELL:  All of workforce, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it would include -- for example, I see a lot of people under 25.  So that would include McDonald's and people like that, right?  

     MS. POWELL:  It could. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly I see people over 65, 3.48 percent, and that would include presumably all of the lawyers and consultants who do energy work, right?  

The point being that this is not necessarily a comparable breakdown to Toronto Hydro, is it?  

     MS. POWELL:  It's all eligible workforce.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you don't believe -- you're not saying that it is a comparable to Toronto Hydro, are you?  A fair comparison?

     MS. POWELL:  A fair comparison?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. POWELL:  It is a representation of the eligible 

workforce.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have no opinion on whether it is a fair comparison?  

     MS. POWELL:  We believe it to be a fair comparison. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's wonderful. 

     Now, this is in cohorts, and you have your own internal information year by year, right?  

Like, you don't have just a category 45 to 54.  You actually have a database which has all of your employees,  and you have how many at 45, how many at 46, et cetera, right?

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I have that information on a per-year basis, then, at least for you?  You may not have it for StatsCan; that's fine. 

     MS. POWELL:  No. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you have it for you, can I just have that?  

     MR. SMITH:  I'm sure we can produce it, if it would be of relevance to the Board.  But I'm struggling as to why further disaggregation would be meaningful.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because the big bulge is 42.21 percent, age 45 to 54. 

     And that is a range of a whole lot of people are going to retire in 2024, which means you better be hiring apprentices now, or in 2035, which means you don't have a problem yet.

That is the whole -- so I would like to see -- maybe that 42.21 is even across the group, in which case it is not a problem. 

     MS. LONG:  You're asking for a 45 to 54?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  You have to see all of it to see what the pattern is.  It shouldn't be a difficult thing to get. 

     MS. LONG:  So you're asking from age below 25 up until over 65, the whole gamut?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It should be a report that you can get out of your system.  

     MR. SMITH:  Ms. Powell, how quickly can you get this 

information?  

     MS. POWELL:  It shouldn't be that difficult. 

     MR. SMITH:  We will do it, then. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you. 

     MS. HELT:  All right.  That will be noted as Undertaking J7.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.8:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN BY AGE OF TORONTO HYDRO EMPLOYEES, ON A PER-YEAR BASIS. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And last on this section I would like you to turn to page 44 of our material.  Now, I will give you page 45 as well, which is the original TCJ2.4, appendix A.  

And we provided you yesterday with a restatement of that, calculating these numbers on the per-FTE basis. 

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a chance to look at that yesterday?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So I just have a couple of brief questions on this. 

     You discussed this general area with Mr. Janigan in the morning, but you didn't have as granular a breakdown with him as this is. 

     And what struck me is that the executive salaries go up at a compound annual growth rate of 7.45 percent for the whole four years.  And I'm wondering, first of all, whether -- let me ask you some specific questions before I get to that. 

     In 2012 it goes up, and then it goes back down in 2013.  Does it go up because you had termination and severance payments in 2012, which are included in this table?  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I don't mean to interrupt my friend, but we had some trouble earlier this morning just making sure we were all on the same line. 

     So, Mr. Shepherd, are you looking at the "Total salary and wages" line?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  "Salary and wages, executive." 

     MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to make sure it was clear for the record. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It goes from 310 to 347, 2011-2012.  But I don't see a sub-line here somewhere which 

is restructuring costs.  So I assume the restructuring component is in the various numbers; is that right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I assume the same for all of it.  

     MS. POWELL:  The restructuring costs are not included in these figures. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you paid somebody severance, for 

example, it's not in here?

     MS. POWELL:  It was already addressed in the -- in Mr. Jamal's accounting.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then perhaps you could explain why your executive salaries went up from 2011 to 2012 by 12 percent, and then went down the next year.  

     MS. POWELL:  During that time frame, we had some executives who retired and some executives who joined. So there's some anomalies in terms of partial years that are included in one year, then full-year salary in another year. 

     So there may be a slight overlap in a couple of those years.  So then it over-inflates another year, because then the executive is there for the full year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but that is reflected in your FTEs, isn't it?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So on a per-FTE basis, that effect doesn't apply, does it?  

     MS. POWELL:  The FTE does reflect the actualities.  But the pay, there's some -- some accounting methodologies that we use for pay where it is accrued -- for part of the year it is prorated, and others it is given for the full year.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You lost me.  

     [Witness panel confers]

MS. POWELL:  If you're looking at the overall, I mean, we have got declining number of executives.  And as the executives leave the company, some of the existing executives attain a larger portfolio.  Their compensation then will increase due to the expanded scope and responsibilities.  If we're looking at the total, though -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, then why would it go down the next year?

     MS. POWELL:  Because we do still have some executives who retire over this whole time frame.  It is not just in 2012.  

     If we look in totality, if I may, if we're looking at the same line, the total compensation spend between '11 and '15 is actually going down by 14 percent.  Headcount as well --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that relevant?  I'm not asking you about that.


MS. POWELL:  -- at 34 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We know that already.  I'm asking you about compensation per employee.  

     MS. POWELL:  Right.  So the compensation per executive, the rationale as to why it is going up is we have got declining number of executives, and with that reduction in executives the balance in the remainder of the executives are picking up additional responsibilities. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  From 2013 to 2014 the average salary and wages including overtime and incentive pay for executives goes from 333 to 292.  That's about an 18 percent increase.  

     MS. POWELL:  And if you look at -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That was bonuses, wasn't it?  

     MR. SMITH:  Sorry, why don't we have Ms. Powell finish?

[Witness panel confers]

     MS. POWELL:  If I may refer you to the table following that you have attached on page 45 --  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. POWELL:  -- if you look between '13 and '14 you can see that the executive compensation went down from 2,661 to 2,469.  So the totality --

       MR. SHEPHERD:  How is that relevant? 

      MS. POWELL:  So the total compensation has gone down, and that is, again, reflective of the reduction in headcount and the additional scope and responsibilities.  In that same time frame we have gone from eight FTEs to six.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you telling me that you paid the existing executives 18 percent more because they were taking on more responsibilities?  Is that what your evidence is?  

     MS. POWELL:  I'm saying -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I don't think that's what happened. 

     MS. POWELL:  I'm saying that the reduction in the number of executives has resulted also in reduction in the total compensation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm still asking you about per-executive compensation.  See, here's my problem.  And this is my final question in this area. 

     You've got an 18 percent increase from 2013 to 2014, which I think is bonuses.  And so I'm thinking:  Well, that's fine.  But then you're going from 2014 to 2015, and you still have another 3.1 percent increase but you haven't taken the bonuses out.  Why would that be?

Now, maybe the answer is they didn't get bonuses; they just got a big salary increase.  If that's your evidence, then by all means say so.  

     MR. SMITH:  I must say I'm not sure where Mr. Shepherd was referring to with the final figures.  It may be of assistance that he could direct us.  And if his question is for an undertaking to explain the difference in compensation between 2013 and 2014, we can do that.  

     We are talking about, by my rough math looking at this, a difference of $200,000, which is modest in this size of this case, reduction in the total salary and wages, as I see it, which my friend has indicated a number of times is not relevant but I would have thought is a good news story.

But in any event, it is a little bit unclear to me what it is that he's looking for us to do.  The total executive compensation is going down.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair -- 

     MS. LONG:  Let me tell you what I'm looking at.  I'm looking at page 45.  I'm looking at -- under the column "Average total compensation" I'm looking at the "Executive" line, 2013 actuals of 426,797, going up in 2014 bridge to 503,202, which by my math is an 18 percent increase. 

     I think what Mr. Shepherd is asking is what is the reason for that increase.  Is that what you're asking?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm actually looking at the "Salary" line, because the "Benefit" line goes down and that is not really within the control of the company.  It just happened to go down.


So the total compensation per employee is not going up as much as the "Salary" line is.  And it's the "Salary" line I am asking about.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well...

     MR. SMITH:  I guess we can -- 

     MS. LONG:  Maybe you can, Mr. Smith, undertake if we can't get the answer from -- it looks like Ms. Powell might want to check the answer to see what the component parts of that increase are -- that we can deal with it by way of undertaking?  

     MR. SMITH:  We can do that.  I was simply observing I would have thought it is the total figure that my friend would be more interested in, and there is no question that through that time period -- although my friend doesn't want to talk about it -- it is going down by a lot. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, what I am trying to drive at is the compound annual growth rate relative to different categories, because what has happened is the executives are going up by a large amount every year, and the other categories -- the unionized, for example -- are going up by a negligible amount, one-sixth.

And normally speaking, if a utility has challenges, what they should be doing is making sure that they look after their tool and hand people, and instead, if what they're doing is looking after their executives, that's the wrong approach. 

     MS. LONG:  Well, you can make that pitch in argument. 

I would just like to know what the number is, so we will take the -- we will get the undertaking.  

     MS. HELT:  Undertaking J7.9, and just to make sure that I have captured it correctly -- and I may not have -- it is to provide the component parts of the increase in the "Salary" line of the appendix to Undertaking TCJ24, between the 2013 actuals and the 2014 bridge years?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm actually -- sorry, I am asking for them to explain the ups and downs of at least the "Executive" line, the categories.  I don't want to know the individual executives, but the categories of the pay changes that are causing these ups and downs over that period, ending up with a 30 percent increase over four years.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.9:  TO EXPLAIN THE FOUR-YEAR 30 PERCENT INCREASE IN EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COSTS.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If they want to do it for the other categories, that would be great.  But that is the one I am concerned with.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, we will do it for the executive, and if the Board feels that this information is useful, we will obviously do it.  But the overall wage bill, which is what is being included in the revenue requirement, is going down by 8 over 30. 

     So whatever that percentage is -- and my friend can say that an executive or two executive or three executive salary is going up, but I would have thought it is the total amount of the wage bill that matters, and that unquestionably that is going down. 

     But if the Board determines that is useful, then we will provide the undertaking.

     MS. LONG:  It is useful for the "Executive" line for us, so we would appreciate it if you supplied the information.  Thank you. 

     MR. SMITH:  We will do that. 

     MS. HELT:  So that is Undertaking J7.9. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Madam Chair, I do have a number of questions about the bond rating reports, but in light of the time, I think I am going to have to skip those. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd. 

     I think in light of the time we will take a break and then come back.  And Ms. Helt, I understand that you have a question?  

     MS. HELT:  Yes, I have one question for this panel.  

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then we, the Panel, has a few questions, so we will probably be about -- we will take a ten-minute break 'til quarter to, and then we will come back, probably be another ten minutes.  And then, Mr. Smith, if you can get panel 5 ready to go. 

     MR. SMITH:  We will.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 3:28 p.m.



--- Upon resuming at 3:48 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Ms. Helt? 

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HELT:  

     MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  You will note that I have put on the dais a document, "Notes to consolidated financial statements for Toronto Hydro Corporation." 

     I am asking that this document be marked as Exhibit K7.3.  It is not in the evidence.  It is taken from the 

Toronto Hydro website, but I did provide it to Mr. Smith and he has indicated he does not have an objection to this being marked as an exhibit. 

EXHIBIT K7.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION."

     MS. HELT:  I am going to get back to this.  I just want to -- I just have a couple of questions for the panel.

And by the way, good afternoon, panel.  I don't think we've met.  My name is Maureen Helt, and I am counsel with the Board. 

     I am going to be referring to pages 44 and 46 of Board 

Staff's compendium.  That was filed as Exhibit K2.1.  

     If we look at page 44 of the compendium -- and I will just wait until you get a chance to get there.  It is also up on the screen, if that is of assistance to you.

Table 3, the first reference, shows two long-term debt issues which are significantly smaller in amount than the other issues shown. 

     There is a $15 million promissory note at 3.32 percent due January 1st, 2022, and a $45 million 6.16 promissory note due on demand. 

     The latter instrument has the highest rate of any of THESL's outstanding debt issues, as you will note from that table. 

     There were a couple of questions asked by Staff with respect to this particular table, asking THESL to explain why these debt instruments are significantly smaller than the other outstanding issues, and why the interest rate on the $45 million promissory note is 6.16 percent versus the 3.32 on the 15 million. 

     And in response, THESL -- and the response is actually noted on page 40.  I am just trying to find it here.

Actually, it's not noted there, but I will tell you what the response is.  THESL said that the debt instruments were issued pursuant to THESL's internal cash and liquidity management policies. 

     The primary purpose for the issuance of these debt 

instruments was to incrementally complement and mirror the parent company's external debt.  

     So if we look at page 46 of the compendium, this is a note to the financial statement of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  And you will see that these two demand notes are reflected on this particular page, in the table at the top of the page. 

     And if we compare that to the document that we've introduced as Exhibit K7.3, we will note that these two notes are not reflected on the Toronto Hydro Corporation page. 

     So my question is:  Can you just explain why these two 

documents actually, with respect to these two issues, don't mirror each other, and why the Toronto Hydro debt does not mirror the parent company's external debt?  

     MR. JAMAL:  So the references -- the note disclosure in the two references that were discussed are different. 

     The one on the screen relates to related party transactions, so it is a disclosure of just between companies. 

     MS. HELT:  All right. 

     MR. JAMAL:  And this one relates to -- sorry, the item just distributed reflects the debentures in the public market by the corporation.  

     MS. HELT:  All right.  So then you're saying that it is a result of the fact that these two tables represent something different, and that that is why they're not mirroring one another with respect to the debt instruments?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MS. HELT:  Is that correct?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.

     MS. HELT:  Was there anything further that you wanted to add?  I see that you're actually looking at the document.  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes.  May I have a minute?  

     MS. HELT:  Certainly.  

     MR. JAMAL:  I believe that is the answer, that the purpose of the two different disclosures -- the disclosures are different.  One is to reflect the inter-company debt and one is to reflect the debt issued in the public market by the corporation.  

     MS. HELT:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's helpful.  Thank you.  

     Can you just explain why it is reasonable for Toronto Hydro to pay Toronto Hydro Corporation a 6.16 percent coupon rate on the $45 million promissory note?  And also noting that that is the note that is due on demand.  

     So if you have some explanation for that, that would be helpful.  

     MR. JAMAL:  Subject to check, I believe the 6.16 reflected the -- reflects the market rate, based on the information from the Treasury Department.  

But I am not exactly sure.  I would have to undertake to validate that.  

     MS. HELT:  All right.  And perhaps if it's not the actual market rate, if you could provide an explanation of why it is a reasonable rate to have on that promissory note?

     MR. JAMAL:  Certainly. 

     MS. HELT:  That will be, I believe. J7.10. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's fine. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.10:  TO EXPLAIN WHY IT IS REASONABLE FOR TORONTO HYDRO TO PAY TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION A 6.16 PERCENT COUPON RATE ON THE $45 MILLION PROMISSORY NOTE.  

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

I have one -- just one other question for this panel, and I am actually going to be referring to Mr. Shepherd's -- or the School Energy Coalition compendium, page 49.  

     And I am looking at the paragraph -- I will wait until you get there.  My apologies.  

     The financial risk paragraph and the last paragraph – or, no, the first paragraph, I'm sorry.  When we're looking at financial risk, we're looking at -- one of the things that is considered as the AFFO-to-debt metric. 

     And the last sentence of the first paragraph here states:   

"However, we believe the company will be able to maintain the AFFO-to-debt metric above the 13 percent threshold."

     I believe what Toronto Hydro now has for its AFFO-to- debt metric is approximately 16 percent. 

     So over the 2015-2019 years, can you just let me know what sort of capital you can put in service, so that the metric does not go below the 13 percent threshold?  

     MR. JAMAL:  That's a very complicated calculation that 

involves factoring in more than just capital.  The AFFO is a function of debt servicing costs and OM&A, rates, funding.  

     So it's -- it involves a lot of moving factors. 

     MS. HELT:  If we assume there is no increase in OM&A or rates, does that make it easier for you to provide an answer?  

MR. JAMAL:  It's possible to do, and given some assumptions, yes.  

     MS. HELT:  Is that something you would undertake to do, then, for the years 2015 through to 2019?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that. 

     MS. HELT:  All right, then.  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking J7.11. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.11:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT SORT OF CAPITAL CAN BE PUT IN SERVICE IN THE 2015-2019 PERIOD SO THAT THE AFFO-TO-DEBT METRIC DOES NOT GO BELOW THE 13 PERCENT THRESHOLD, ASSUMING NO INCREASE IN OM&A AND RATES.

     MS. HELT:  Thank you, panel.  I have no further questions. 

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.


Panel, Ms. Spoel has a question for you.  

     QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:  

     MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  If we could turn back to page 45 of Mr. -- or the School Energy Coalition's compendium, which is the Appendix A to schedule J2.4, I have a question about benefits.  And my question relates to the executive benefits.

I notice that at the top of the page, for -- we will just look at 2014 as an example.  At the top of the page it says you have six executives, six people in the executive group.  The total benefits are $700,663, which is about 111 -- or $115,000 per executive. 

     So I am just wondering if you could tell me what is encompassed in those benefits.  

     MS. POWELL:  It includes government benefits, so CPP, EI.  We also include OMERS, our pension plan.  It also -- 

     MS. SPOEL:  Executives are members of the OMERS?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.

It also includes our health, dental, life insurance, long-term disability, AD&D. 

     MS. SPOEL:  And that's it?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  

     MS. SPOEL:  So the executives don't receive any benefits other than those kinds of health insurance, disability and pensions?  

     MS. POWELL:  Well, we have a wellness account as well that's a couple thousand dollars, yes.  We have that as well.  

     MS. SPOEL:  So can I assume, then -- I notice back on page 29 of VECC's compendium that the average benefits for the management class, including executives in the same year, were $66,000. 

     So what would be -- why would the executives -- I presume that the -- I know CPP and UIC won't be any different, and I -- is the difference of about $50,000 more per person for the executive group, is that attributed mostly to pension?  

     MS. POWELL:  I'm sorry, which -- are you referring to the...

     MS. SPOEL:  The average total benefits on page 29 of Exhibit K7.1, there is a line that says "Average total benefits, management including executive," because they're not broken out between non-executive and executive. 

     And that year it is 66 -- in 2014 it is 66,466.  So I am just wondering why the exec -- what the extra $50,000 per person on average that the executives are getting over other management, is that mostly attributed to the pension?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes.  Because the pension is -- it's 14.6 percent.  So it's a fairly sizeable percentage.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I had one other question, I guess, going back to the question I was asking you earlier about the report done by Towers Watson.  Actually, two questions on that report.


I asked you earlier about the issue of the comparator group with the GTA companies, and I just noticed when you note in the introduction under "Peer group selection," it does say "A named comparator group of GTA companies from Towers Watson's 2013 general industry survey."

So there is -- perhaps you can look at that.  I don't need an answer to that right now, but when you are -- 

     MR. SMITH:  We will roll that into the undertaking. 

     MS. SPOEL:  Roll that into the answer, because --



MR. SMITH:  Yes --


MS. SPOEL:  -- there seems to be a disconnect internally in that report. 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MS. SPOEL:  My second question is about the comparisons of target total cash, which I guess is a -- one of the compensation data. 

     On page 10 of the report -- and I don't think you need to turn this up.  It is a general question.  It says:  

"Toronto Hydro grades W2 and CUPE were the outliers, sitting at 18 percent and 47 percent of the market respectively." 

     So what I wonder if you could help me with is:  What do you perceive the reasons for the CUPE group –- which I assume includes a number of different occupations -- why it would be 47 percent ahead of the market compared to general industry.  

     MS. POWELL:  There are a number of factors, but the primary factor is that, you know, wages are collectively bargained.  We had a five-year collective agreement in place prior to our four-year agreement that we settled last year.  It went up 3 percent per year.

So having a five-year collective agreement in place just exacerbates if the other comparator group of companies aren't necessarily moving at the same pace.

     MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MS. LONG:  Those are all of our questions.


Mr. Smith, did you have any redirect?  

     MR. SMITH:  I believe one, maybe two questions.  You think I would know by now.  I have one, maybe two questions.  

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Jamal, you had an exchange for some period of time with Mr. Shepherd relating to the business planning process.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  And you had some questions -- questions were asked in relation to some guidance you received in relation to inflation.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. JAMAL:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  And it may be handy if you have Mr. Shepherd's compendium, page 24.  

     My question is:  The discussion relating to inflation related to what aspect of Toronto Hydro's business planning process?  

     MR. JAMAL:  It related to the OM&A portion of the business planning process.  

     MR. SMITH:  And on the capital side, how was that dealt with?  

     MR. JAMAL:  On the capital side, it was determined on a needs basis what the distribution system needs.  

     MR. SMITH:  And that is what you spoke about earlier?  

     MR. JAMAL:  I did. 

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Sorry, just one moment. 

     Sorry, one final question.  Ms. Powell, you referred to the five-year collective agreement that ended last year.  Do you recall that?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  And have you subsequently entered into a new collective agreement?

     MS. POWELL:  We have.  We settled a four-year collective agreement with CUPE, with an average increase of 1.75 percent. 

     MR. SMITH:  Over the four-year term?  

     MS. POWELL:  Over the four-year term. 

     MR. SMITH:  Is that reflected in the evidence already?  

     MS. POWELL:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. LONG:  Thank you, panel.  Thank you for your evidence.  You are excused. 

     MR. SMITH:  Even you, Mr. Lyberogiannis.  


[Panel 4 withdraws] 

     MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, we have to break today at 4:30, and there is one issue I want to deal with.  So we need to stop at 4:25, but I would like to get the panel up and affirmed, and perhaps you can get through introductions.  

     MR. SMITH:  Certainly.  Why don't I ask panel 5 to come forward?  They're here.  


Members of the Panel, you should have, I believe, on the dais a CV for Mr. Lyle, and you should also have, I believe, distributed a one-page handout related -- indicated as "Bill impacts."  I will ask Mr. Seal about that, but that has been done for -- it condenses information that is in the record already, for convenience.


Perhaps while we're at it, it would be helpful if we could mark these as exhibits.  

MS. HELT:  Why don't we do that?  Exhibit 7.4 will be the CV of Mr. Greg Lyle, president and managing director of Innovative Research Group.

     EXHIBIT NO. 7.4:  CV OF MR. GREG LYLE.

MS. HELT:  And Exhibit K 7.5 will be a one-page table entitled "Bill impacts."  

EXHIBIT NO. 7.5:  ONE-PAGE TABLE ENTITLED "BILL IMPACTS."  

     MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, allow me to introduce, from my left, Mr. Andrew Herczeg, manager, finance operations, Mr. Kaleb Ruch, senior regulatory policy advisor.  To his left is Mr. Darryl Seal, manager of rates, and to his left, Ms. Amanda Klein, vice president, regulatory affairs and general counsel.  To her left is Mr. Lyle from the Innovative Research Group, and to the extreme left, Mr. Bile, manager, CDM program delivery and business development.  

     And I would ask that they be affirmed.  

TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. - PANEL 5

     Andrew Herczeg, Affirmed

Darryl Seal, Affirmed

Kaleb Ruch, Affirmed


Amanda Klein, Affirmed

Joe Bile, Affirmed


Greg Lyle, Affirmed
EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. SMITH:  

     MR. SMITH:  Very briefly going through the panel, and then I will have a couple of more focussed questions. 

     Mr. Herczeg is the manager of finance, operations.  Can you please just provide an overview of your job responsibilities? 

     MR. HERCZEG:  Sure.  I'm responsible for THESL electricity revenue, cost of power, and deferral variance accounts.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Mr. Ruch, same question to you. 

     MR. RUCH:  I am responsible for providing advice on 

regulatory policy, both issues that come before the Board and issues that do not come before the Board. 

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Seal, your responsibility?  

     MR. SEAL:  I am responsible for rates and cost allocation.  

     MR. SMITH:  Ms. Klein?

     MS. KLEIN:  Toronto Hydro's overall approach to this 

application from a policy and planning perspective, and how we interpreted the OEB's guidance.  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Lyle, what is the business of the Innovative Research Group?  

     MR. LYLE:  Innovative Research Group provides research and consulting services to government and private sector 

organizations across Canada.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And in what area?  

     MR. LYLE:  In a whole variety of areas.  We work primarily in the realm of ideas, as opposed to products.  So we work in social marketing, corporate communications, and in public policy. 

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

And Mr. Bile, your responsibilities?  

     MR. BILE:  In addition to managing the conservation demand management business development efforts, I am also a manager in charge of key account management strategy and engagement. 

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  

     Members of the panel –- perhaps, Ms. Klein, you could answer this on behalf of the panel.  Do you adopt, for the purposes of testifying today, the evidence, interrogatory responses, technical conference answers and undertakings provided, as set out in the oral hearing witness panel?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Ms. Klein, just a couple of questions for you that come from matters that were raised earlier in the proceeding. 

     There were questions relating to the relationship between the ICM true-up and 2015 opening rate base; are you aware of that?

     MS. KLEIN:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  To assist with that, can you please advise the panel of Toronto Hydro's understanding of the ICM true-up process? 

     MS. KLEIN:  Certainly.  In the ICM application, our view is that the Board approved segments of work and forecast spending for those segments. 

     And as part of the ICM, we were provided the ability to move funding for each segment between years.  And we expected that while most of the filed jobs would be completed, some would be substituted based on emerging needs throughout the term and actual costs within a segment made apart from the forecasts. 

     The approved ICM rate riders effectively provided us revenues associated with the work for 2012 to 2014, and that these revenues were determined based on the revenue requirement that was based on the forecasted in-service additions for those works. 

     In a true-up on a segment-by-segment basis, we will compare the actual revenue requirement derived from the actual in-service amounts against that revenue requirement derived from the forecast in-service additions. 

     And the intent is that this will address any variance 

between the actual and forecast in-service additions in each segment. 

     The sum of the resulting revenue requirements, based on the in-service additions for each segment, will then be compared against the revenue collected through the approved rate riders, with any over- or under-collection being refunded or collected through a subsequent rate rider. 

     And while the true-up is to be performed, of course, at an actual segment level, explaining any variance necessarily requires an analysis of the individual jobs that make up each segment.  And that process is ongoing, as you've heard from some of our witnesses on panel 1. 

     In Exhibit OH, tab 1, schedule 3 -- which is the one that we filed this past Sunday evening, and that I believe Mr. Walker spoke to on panel 1 -- we described some of the complexity of that ICM true-up process, which is the reason why Toronto Hydro has indicated consistently that it won't be in a position to provide the true-up information on a final basis until the second quarter of this year. 

     In the interim, what we have provided to the Board and the parties is our best current estimate of our overall performance during the ICM period, and is demonstrated by that exhibit. 

     The program turned out mainly as we expected it to.  We completed, or have in progress, nine out of ten of the filed jobs.  We substituted the work as required based on the emerging needs, and we're coming in at a 5 percent variance above the overall forecasted costs.  

     MR. SMITH:  Let me ask this follow-up question, then.  How does that true-up process that you identified relate, then, to the opening rate base that Toronto Hydro has asked for in this proceeding?  

     MS. KLEIN:  Sure.  So true-up is about revenue 

reconciliation between approved and actual in-service assets during the IRM, which, in our view, is distinct from the 2015 opening rate base. 

     However, a portion of the 2015 opening rate base will be based on in-service additions that relate to ICM spending. 

     And we understand that there is some connection between the true-up process and the opening rate base for this proceeding. 

     We are confident in the prudence of the spending that is associated with the forecasts of the ICM segments, and that would include some of the spending that would be above forecast in those segments.  And in order to provide the Board and the parties with some comfort regarding those details, we would -- we would propose actually a variance account to capture any difference between the amount of the ICM-based in-service additions that are currently forecast, and then the amount that would be approved by the Board at true-up. 

     This would effectively mean that 2015 opening rate base would be set on the basis of the utility's forecasts, as in any other rebasing application.  But the existence of the variance account would provide the Board with the ability to change the revenue requirement impacts of opening rate base, in the event that any portion of the ICM work is found to be imprudently incurred. 

     In other words, this would allow this opening rate base to be retroactively adjusted, through the operation of a negative rate rider. 

     Again, we have high confidence in the prudence of the work, but we understand the parties might want to have an opportunity to satisfy themselves on that point.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I have a question for you, Mr. Seal, or maybe two.  

     Can you just help us with what's been marked -- I have lost the exhibit cite, but the "Bill impacts" exhibit that we just marked, that you prepared?  

     What is it that is being shown here, and where did it come from?  

     MR. SEAL:  Certainly.  This exhibit is really a summary, as noted at the bottom of that exhibit, from Exhibit 8, tab 7, schedule 1. 

     So these are our bill impact tables, which are quite detailed bill impacts by year, by various rate components. 

     And I think during the course of this hearing there have been some indications and some discussion of bill impacts, and I thought it would be useful just to summarize those on a single page for each of the classes and for each of the main subtotals that are included in that bill impact table, so that we don't have to flip to those really large, very small-type exhibits if we want to talk about the bill impacts. 

     So it was simply a way of summarizing those and making it convenient to look at the impacts.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  A final question for you.  Towards the end of the day yesterday Board Member Quesnelle asked some questions about the allocation of the street lighting revenue offsets and costs.  Do you recall that?

     MR. SEAL:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. SMITH:  And it may be helpful for you to simply address his question at this time.  

     MR. SEAL:  I will try to do that.  

     The exhibit that was referenced, I believe it was Exhibit 2A, tab 5, schedule 1, page 23.  And in that exhibit we noted that for cost allocation purposes for the assets that we were transferring into the utility for street lighting, that the allocation of those costs would be on a 95/5 percent basis to the street lighting class and to the USL class. 

     The reason we did that was because of information that some of those street lighting assets were serving unmetered scattered loads.  So the example I was given was where, for example, a bus shelter might have been receiving its service through a street lighting asset.  So it seemed appropriate to us that once these utilities -- once the assets were in the utility, to allocate our estimated proportion of those assets that were being used to serve the USL class on that basis, and the remainder would be in the street lighting class.

So that is the reason that we did that.


With respect to the revenue offset, then, so our application has a revenue offset that completely recovers the revenue requirement associated with the moving in of the street lighting assets. 

     So this -- as indicated in evidence, the revenue offset is coming from the portion of the contract that Toronto Hydro has with the city, the portion that will cover the assets that are going into the utility. 

     So it seemed appropriate to us that since the city was paying this contract and the city is the sole street lighting customer, that it was appropriate to allocate the full revenue offset to the street lighting class.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks, Mr. Seal.  

     Does that imply that there would be a 5 percent reduction in what you're collecting from the USL, that 5 percent that you're not applying to them?  It's not a large amount.  It is just the math just doesn't add up.  There is $400,000, I believe, that would then -- what would be used to reduce what you're collecting from the USL class?

     MR. SEAL:  Well, actually what it would serve to do is increase the amount of costs that are allocated to the USL class.  So these costs weren't previously in our rate base at all.  They were part of the street lighting asset that wasn't in the utility. 

     So these costs are now in the utility, and they're serving just that class.  So they are being assigned just to that class.  So in effect it actually increases the amount of costs assigned to the USL class.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  The other question that I had -- I don't know if you're going to deal with that separately, or is that what you had as far as response to my inquiries yesterday?  

     MR. SEAL:  I believe so. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  The other question, which was actually the more important one, was, in your description you just provided me, you said that some of the street light assets also served to supply -- bus shelters was the example, part of the USL class. 

     My question was:  If only some of the assets serve the USL class, those assets that do not serve the USL class, how were they ever classified as anything but street lights?  How were they classified as distribution assets to begin with, and then ever transferred?  

     If the ones that aren't serving USL -- I take it they are then 100 percent serving street lights, and doesn't that justify the logic that went into the classification to begin with?  

     MR. SEAL:  And I am not 100 percent familiar with the whole street lighting decision, but my understanding was that some of those assets that have either the potential or are serving other classes, so it might not have been a USL class that those assets were serving.  It might have been a different class or the potential to serve a different class -- 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  And that's true --


MR. SEAL:  -- is my understanding.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- but then how is it that the cost allocation would be 100 percent to street lights, if it is serving other classes, or -- if it's a question of it's so close to 100 percent we decided to make it 100 percent, fine.  But there is a bit of a break in the logic that, if it's 100 percent street lights and no other class, that doesn't line up with the cost allocation, and if it is 100 percent street lights, then it doesn't line up with the classification.  That was my...

     MR. SEAL:  Well, as I've said, we were informed that approximately 5 percent was serving a USL-type load.  So it wasn't fully street lighting in that particular case. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  My question yesterday was:  If the USL footprint is the same as the streetlights, the logic holds.  But nothing that you said or the text suggests that.

MR. SEAL:  And I don't believe it is.  I mean, the USL footprint -- USL loads are also served by existing distribution assets.  So we have existing distribution assets that are serving unmetered scattered loads.  This is just the street lighting assets that we're moving into the utility.  As I said, the estimate is around 5 percent of those might be serving USL loads. 

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks for your answer, but it doesn't really close the loop for me.  

     MS. LONG:  Perhaps we can --

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Maybe you can take that under advisement -- 

     MS. LONG:  -- revisit that again tomorrow. 

     MR. SMITH:  I am happy to. 

     MS. LONG:  That being said, with respect to scheduling for tomorrow, it does not look like we will finish panel 5 

tomorrow. 

     So, Ms. Helt, I think you are going to start tomorrow?  Is that what I understand?  

     MS. HELT:  That's correct, Madam Chair. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  And then we had said that as an overflow we would provide a day next week, Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday.  

     Mr. Smith, I understand that you are actually before the Board on Thursday?  So that is not going to work. 

     MR. SMITH:  I am. 

     MS. LONG:  And so we are looking at Tuesday.  I understand you have a conflict on Wednesday as well?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes, I have a court-ordered mediation that day with Justice Cunningham. 

     MS. LONG:  Okay.  So then Mr. Shepherd, what is available to you is either the option of going tomorrow or on Tuesday.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I don't see why I would be the victim of Mr. Smith's schedule.  I was not expecting to go tomorrow.  I have a four-hour cross-examination.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, I'm not sure I understand why you're not -- you were not prepared to go tomorrow.  This was going to be an eight-day hearing.  We asked all parties to be available.  Any panel could have collapsed, and we expect that parties would be ready to go.

So we're offering the Tuesday.  We only have Wednesday, Tuesday -- Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday next week.  We have ordered Mr. Smith to be here on Thursday.  Obviously we need the applicant here in order to do the cross-examination.  So our hands are a bit tied.


Is there no way that you can accommodate Tuesday?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I made a commitment on Tuesday, because I was told that there were no dates available next week, and so I made commitments.  

     MS. SPOEL:  Well, then, Mr. Shepherd, I'm sorry, this was supposed to be an eight-day hearing.  Tomorrow is day 8.  So you should be prepared to go tomorrow in that case -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I --


MS. SPOEL:  -- if there's no days next week.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- understand that, except that I have been getting reports every day that show at least two more days were required.  So I had no reasonable expectation that I'd have to do a four-hour cross tomorrow.  And it seems to me that the Board is quite prepared to accommodate Mr. Smith and not prepared to accommodate me.  I think that is unfair.  I'm ready on Wednesday.  I can go Wednesday.  I can go Thursday.  In fact, on Thursday I'm supposed to be in the Enbridge ADR, but I am willing to come here instead.  

     So I guess it seems to me that it is a dual standard here.  I mean, obviously if I have to go tomorrow, I will, but then I won't be able to do a proper cross-examination.  It is fairly straightforward. 

     If the Board is adamant that only Tuesday is available next week, then I will go and see if I can change that, but I have people flying in from various places to that all-day meeting.  So I don't know what to do.  

     MS. LONG:  Well, I mean, this is regrettable.  Obviously we had planned that everybody would be ready to go for the full eight days, and so our expectation was that you would be ready to proceed tomorrow.  

     That being said, I don't want you to do your cross-examination that you are not prepared to do.  So perhaps you can make inquiries as to whether or not you can be available on Tuesday. 

     And I understand that you have a court-ordered mediation on Wednesday, so you are unavailable?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MS. LONG:  And we have nothing on Monday or Friday.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm available Wednesday. 

     MS. LONG:  So we will leave it that.  You will start tomorrow, Ms. Helt, and perhaps you and Mr. Shepherd can communicate as to whether Tuesday becomes a possibility.  But we will be here ready to hear people tomorrow.  Thank you.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:28 p.m.
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